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<THE HEARING COMMENCED AT 10.13 AM  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Ready to recommence with Mr Mannoun.  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MS PALMER: Excuse me. Sorry. 

 10 

COMMISSIONER: Come forward, Councillor. Take a seat.  

 

<NED MANNOUN, ON FORMER OATH  

 

COMMISSIONER: You're still on your oath from Friday. 15 

  

MR MANNOUN: Okay.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, Ms McDonald.  

  20 

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun, I want to return to a topic that I was asking you 

about on Friday, where in one of your answers you referred to the internal 

Ombudsman, and I said I would return to that topic and I failed to do so on Friday. 

Now, the - previously at Liverpool City Council, during periods when you were the 

mayor, you did have the role of internal Ombudsman?  25 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And - excuse me. If we could bring up LCC.009.001.0763, 

please. Yes. Now, this is dated 2023. It's an email to Mr Portelli. And if we go to the 30 

final page, you can see it's from Kristy Ang. And I understand she's from the human 

resources section of council. Is that your understanding, Mr Mannoun?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Regarding Kristy?  

 35 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

MR MANNOUN: I don't have any - I don't know. I've - have no involvement with 

Ms Ang.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: All right. If you go back to the first page and the first section, 

Ms Ang says: 

 

"Please find below an outline of the functions and responsibilities of the internal 

ombudsman office." 45 
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And you can see there there are about 13 functions, responsibilities set out, 

including, under 2, code of conduct complaints. Also managing public interest 

disclosures. Under 7: 

 

"Other complaints, management or investigatory roles as the CEO deems appropriate 5 

from time to time." 

 

And also under 9: 

 

"Complaints involving alleged pecuniary interest breaches." 10 

 

Then 10: 

 

"Complaints involving suspected corrupt conduct." 

 15 

Then 11: 

 

"Complaints involving maladministration." 

  

And then 12:  20 

 

"Reporting to the ARIC, OLG and New South Wales Ombudsman and undertaking 

and/or managing investigations as required."  

 

Now, just looking at those 13 functions and responsibilities, did they accord with 25 

your understanding of the functions and responsibilities of the internal ombudsman's 

office.  

  

MR MANNOUN: Yes, but I think there's only 12, not 13.  

 30 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 8's blank.  

 

MS McDONALD: I think - yes, to be fair, 8 isn't completed. Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: But that was the function of the office as it existed within the 35 

structure. When was it abolished, Ms - in any event, prior to it being abolished.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. 

 

COMMISSIONER: As you understand it, at least. 40 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, Commissioner. I was just -  

 45 

COMMISSIONER: That's all right. I just was asking when was it abolished.  
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MS McDONALD: And if we could bring up - and this is from July 2020, a period 

when you weren't in council, but it's an internal ombudsman report for July 2020. 

And if we can bring up LCC.009.001.4388. You can see there annual report to 

council by internal ombudsman. What I'm interested in is the table under 

Complaints. So if you go to the bottom of page 1, maybe page 2, we've got 5 

Complaints Statistics. These are for the period July 2019 to June 2020. The number 

in brackets refers to the previous 12 months.  

 

And if we have a look at the table, you can see there under type of complaints 

referred to internal ombudsman you've got mayor, councillors and the CEO. And 10 

you've got 40 referred this year, 44 in the - and number completed 41. 44 was the 

number of referred and the number of completed in the year before. And then code of 

conduct complaints and queries, you've got 21, and then 18 and 16 being completed 

for the year previously. And I just show you that as an indication that that table 

would suggest that during that period the internal ombudsman was dealing with code 15 

of conduct complaints.  

  

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, in - sorry, I'll start again. The internal ombudsman policy 20 

was revoked in December 2024?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Around that time. I can't be exactly sure of the date.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. But in July of this year, a motion was passed for the 25 

CEO to investigate the possibility of reinstating the internal ombudsman position to 

deal with code of conduct complaints, and that was considered by council. It was 

determined that the CEO would prepare - or would investigate it, but as it was 

a matter that the inquiry was considering, would postpone the finalisation of his 

report. Is that your understanding of the determination in July? I can bring up the 30 

minutes if you want to have a look at them.  

 

MR MANNOUN: I don't have a specific recollection but that does sound correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right.  35 

 

COMMISSIONER: Could I just have the reference to the minutes?  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. Sorry. There's a report in the agenda, INQ.042.001.0004, at 

page_0355.  40 

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.  

 

MS McDONALD: We might just bring up the minutes quickly, please. 

INQ.055.001.0005. You can see minutes of the meeting held on 23 July. If we go 45 

through to page 45, we've got notice of motion to establishment of internal 

independent ombudsman to handle code of conduct and public complaints. And then 
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as part of the notice of motion, there's the background. And this was a notice of 

motion submitted by Councillor Ristevski. And then if you keep on moving down, 

there's his notice of motion. But the notice of motion passed, which is on the next 

page, is: 

 5 

"Direct the CEO to provide a report on alternate methods to deal with code of 

conduct complaints, including internal or external Ombudsmans, and report back." 

 

But then in (2):  

 10 

"Acknowledge the public inquiry is likely to provide some recommendations on this 

matter, and that the Minister and the Office of Local Government are also 

considering reforms to the code of conduct process."  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: Now, I think it may have been my viewing of the actual council 

meeting, but my recollection was that although the CEO is to provide the report it 

was discussed that because the inquiry was looking at it, that report would not be 

finalised until the inquiry has finished. Is that your recollection or are you expecting 20 

for the CEO to provide a report shortly? 

 

MR MANNOUN: I don't have any specific recollection. I can only go off of 

what's - what the resolution says.  

 25 

COMMISSIONER: No report's come back yet on this issue, has it? 

  

MR MANNOUN: No, not that I'm aware of.  

 

MS McDONALD: One of the reasons why it's being explored in the inquiry is the 30 

evidence of the costs incurred in undertaking preliminary assessments and then, in 

many cases, investigations into code of conduct complaints, and whether an internal 

Ombudsman would be a way of trying to minimise or decrease those costs. You 

understand that argument? 

 35 

MR MANNOUN: As the reason for the - for this motion?  

 

MS McDONALD: No, no. Listen to me again. I've said the inquiry has been asking 

some questions about the internal Ombudsman role and whether there would be 

a benefit in it being reinstated.  40 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And one of the reasons why it may be of benefit is that it would 

cut back the costs being paid by council to external investigative agencies.  45 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: Now, do you have a view on whether the internal Ombudsman 

would have - if it was reinstalled, whether it would have that benefit of cutting back 

the costs the council is paying to those external investigative agencies? 

 5 

MR MANNOUN: It could potentially, but I think it would, I guess, depend on the 

work that is appropriate for council to do internally versus externally. For example, 

should, you know, a staff member - do they feel conflicted in doing an investigation 

in the organisation versus an external person. So I'm not involved in, I guess - in 

understanding the decision-making of why it goes external versus why it's not done 10 

internally,, except that - what's within the code of conduct procedures.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Well, at the moment, the code of conduct procedures 

do anticipate if the council does have an internal Ombudsman or has access to some 

kind of Ombudsman position - for example, if a number of councils shared the 15 

position, so that you would have an independent Ombudsman paid for by a number 

of councils who would deal with code of conduct complaints arising from those 

councils, and seeing if that was a way of cutting back the costs. Have you turned 

your mind to that model? 

 20 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. I think the challenge with us having an internal one - if you 

look at the data and the statistics in that table that was presented - that was put on the 

screen last week, there's obviously - there's a trend in regards to code of conduct 

complaints over, I think - I think the record cited, correct me if I'm wrong, a 10-year 

period - or whatever, a multiple-year period.  25 

 

However, in the last 12 months there has been a significant spike, dare I say, to the 

tune of a thousand per cent extra. Whatever it is, it's a significant, large number, 

which would then say - well, you know, what do you resource yourself up to? Or to 

do - is it to do the normal quantity or do you resource yourself up to deal with the 30 

spike? And, you know, I think there's a lot more to be interrogated within the data 

that was presented about the issue. The question with respect to a pool or an 

Ombudsman that is shared amongst councils - I'm a strong believer in that as an 

appropriate model, for multiple reasons, but mainly in that it provides, I guess, 

a depth with - 35 

 

MS McDONALD: A what, sorry?  

 

MR MANNOUN: A depth of skills within that function. That's based on the 

assumption that it's not just one or two people, that it's actually multiple people. And 40 

that's just generally amongst - 

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry, multiple people? 

 

MR MANNOUN: If you were to have an office of the internal Ombudsman that was 45 

shared amongst councils, you know, and every council put in X amount of dollars, 

you probably - I would envisage that model being where you would have 
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multiple - you would have an internal Ombudsman with multiple staff that would 

look after the councils, subject to how many councils would be part of that pool - is it 

two, three, or is it five or 10? That is what I mean by that.  

 

But I think that is - so I guess, in summary, it provides independence from a staff 5 

member sitting in the building. So that helps. And then number 2 - once again, there 

is then a depth - or maybe if there is a spike with regards these it could be better dealt 

with - or there is at least a bit more resources to be able to deal with it.  

 

MS McDONALD: That last comment, are you saying that it would introduce some 10 

flexibility if a council in a particular year was facing a spike in the number of 

complaints? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. I want to say flexibility is the word, but the ability to deal 

with it internally, because I think the question is - what you referred to previously is 15 

what the inquiry is looking at - is at the cost and whether they be sent 

external - potentially within that pool - within that resource, they could handle more 

internally and have a greater capacity.  

 

MS McDONALD: Have you ever heard of any councils sharing a position like that? 20 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: When and where? 

 25 

MR MANNOUN: I think amongst this discussion that was happening around this 

time of - 

 

MS McDONALD: When you say "this time", what are you talking about? This -  

 30 

MR MANNOUN: I think when - 

 

MS McDONALD: This is July, I think, of this year.  

 

MR MANNOUN: I have a vague recollection of it potentially - whenever, basically, 35 

the issue comes up of how do we deliver this service, it's what is the best way. So I 

think even when it was originally brought up in - was it '23? And when the position 

was abolished - '24?  

 

MS McDONALD: I've got it being abolished - excuse me - there was a proposal in 40 

July 2023, and then I've got in December 2024 - not in those minutes - that council 

resolved to revoke the internal Ombudsman policy. And, Commissioner, that was in 

minutes INQ.001.001.1126, at page 27.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.  45 
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MR MANNOUN: I have a vague recollection that it may have been either in 

a - potentially in one of the papers that came to council or in a briefing session that it 

was discussed.  

 

MS McDONALD: Can you assist us with which councils or when or any details like 5 

that? 

 

MR MANNOUN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: And when you say the briefing session, who held the briefing 10 

session? 

 

MR MANNOUN: The CEO holds the briefing sessions with his staff.  

 

MS McDONALD: Do you have any other comments to make about - or expressing 15 

your view about a proposal to reinstate the internal Ombudsman position, whether it 

is the model that was in existence up until December 2024 or a new - a different 

model? 

 

MR MANNOUN: And I think, going back to my previous comments, that having 20 

a shared resource amongst councils - I think is the way to do it. But I think when you 

have somebody internally, I think it places a lot of pressure on them. You know, 

ultimately, they have - they're employed by the CEO. If something - you get these 

situations where if somebody is complaining, are they - I'm not disparaging anyone, 

but there could be - I know one of the councillors raised issues and saying, "Well, 25 

I'm not happy with the way it's gone because they never get any outcomes against 

staff," if I can use those terms. So - and I - and God rest her soul, she did pass - our 

internal Ombudsman did pass away from a heart attack (indistinct).  

 

So I think if it's - (1) it needs to be external from the organisation. And I think even 30 

when you - as a member of the general public, I think people expect an Ombudsman 

to sort of be sitting as a separate entity regardless. And, you know, if you were to put 

a - another thing about that is where - if there is a proactive and positive 

role - (indistinct) say "positive" - providing assistance to councillors when you have 

a question. At the moment there is - we don't really get advice when we're seeking 35 

advice, and I've put motions to council - try to create policies with respect to that.  

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry. So when you spoke about assistance to councillors if they 

have a question, is this assistance to councillors if they have a question arising from 

the code of conduct?  40 

 

MR MANNOUN: If they - 

 

MS McDONALD: Or is it generally?  

 45 

MR MANNOUN: Probably more relating to the code of conduct, and slightly 

generally.  
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COMMISSIONER: What sort of assistance would you be - speaking of 

a position - the internal position in council to provide this advice to members of the 

governing body, is that what you have in mind? 

 5 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Like, when it gets to conflicts of interest or when you need 

to go and discuss something with someone. You know, we don't really have that 

ability to get any real, clear guidance. Whether it's on the OLG or LGNSW, I think 

having someone that we could go to, number 1, is important.  

 10 

The second part is that - I guess I compare to being a company director, where if you 

need to go out there and get - I've put motions about this - seeking external legal 

advice to question a matter - having access to be able to do that from time to time. As 

a company director you're allowed to, but at council, unless you're doing it yourself 

and paying for it, then you don't have access.  15 

 

COMMISSIONER: I don't want you to tell me about the things you wanted legal 

advice, but other topics that you would - that might fall within this -  

 

MR MANNOUN: Sorry, what was the last part of your -  20 

 

COMMISSIONER: I said I don't want you to tell me anything that you have - 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. 

 25 

COMMISSIONER: - thought about legal advice. Just put those to one side, but 

what sort of things - what sort of issues might be raised with this person if they were 

available to you and your colleagues? What sort of areas are we talking about?  

 

MR MANNOUN: I would say number 1 would be with respect to conflicts of 30 

interest, that if you wanted to say, "Well, look, here is my situation," and you lay it 

out and say, you know, "What would you recommend?" At the moment, the - what is 

available to us is what we can give you in advice, because it's up to every Councillor 

to make their views on what they should do. So I think just having a step up from 

that - ultimately it's still the decision of the councillor what to declare, but having 35 

that ability to go through in a bit more in-depth - in detail would definitely be one of 

them.  

  

And, you know, once again, if you're in the situation where, once again, there is, 

similar to the discussion that we had on Friday - that if there is a - could be conflict 40 

resolution. You know, conflict resolution is its own industry. If there is an issue 

about how do you mediate, how do you - maybe that could be a - once again, a 

proactive part of what that office could do. And as an independent, outside of the 

organisation, it could be, I think, viewed, once again, as an honest broker because 

they are an independent part - they're independently outside of the organisation.  45 
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COMMISSIONER: I see. So this is someone - a resource external to the 

organisation, perhaps shared with other councils. 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 5 

COMMISSIONER: Is that what you have in mind?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, indeed.  

 

COMMISSIONER: And someone who might be able to give advice to councillors 10 

on issues that might arise in the performance of their functions from time the time?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Have I got the right end of it? 15 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: When you raise conflict of interest - at the moment, is the 

position that if circumstances arise which may raise a conflict of interest it's up to the 20 

individual councillor to turn their mind to these are the circumstances, this is what 

the code of conduct says about conflict of interest, and determine whether they 

come - it raises conflict of interest, the type of conflict of interest, and then 

management of the conflict of interest?  

 25 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And at the moment, if you're in those circumstances where you 

have particular facts and you've got to turn your mind to the code of conduct and 

those three questions, is it a code of conduct - sorry, is it a conflict of interest, what 30 

type and how do I manage it - is it your evidence that, in a sense, a councillor is by 

themselves in that determination?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: Does that mean that - I'm just interested - you can only speak to 

the way you deal with it, but do you then err on the side of caution? That is, "If I've 

got circumstances and I'm unsure whether it's a conflict of interest, I should declare 

for abundant caution reasons." Is that your kind of mindset?  

 40 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, I was taught to be cautious. So, yes, it's always good to be 

cautious.  

 

MS McDONALD: And there's no, I suppose, mechanism where you can raise it 

with the councillors to get their perspective? 45 
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MR MANNOUN: Only through general - only through conversation, if you wanted 

to have that conversation with another councillor.  

 

MS McDONALD: So an informal discussion with a fellow councillor? 

 5 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Have you ascertained whether it would be appropriate to seek 

some guidance from the in-house legal team? 

 10 

MR MANNOUN: Sorry, what was the question again?  

 

MS McDONALD: Well, if you're faced with particular facts and you're unsure 

about those three questions, seeking some guidance from the in-house legal team.  

 15 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: You've looked at that or you've asked about that? 

 

MR MANNOUN: We have. And ultimately, it gets down to, "Councillor, it's your 20 

decision, you need to make it. We can't give you any advice," I think are the exact 

words.  

 

MS McDONALD: When were you told that? 

 25 

MR MANNOUN: I would say there are multiple instances. I cannot put my finger 

on to any one in particular. I know in the training that we've received over the years 

it's brought up - I'm just trying to think whether they actually it brought up - seeking 

advice from the council's legal team. I know we go through - in the training we go 

through role-play scenarios. I say "role-play", but examples I give in - well, one to 30 

do - would do. I think ultimately, yes, it's been brought up on multiple occasions. 

I cannot think of exactly when.  

 

MS McDONALD: The training that you've just referred to, is that the training 

received during the induction day or is it different training? 35 

 

MR MANNOUN: We've had a few induction days. So they're - 

 

MS McDONALD: Well, if go back to - I think I asked you some questions on 

Friday - I think it was in October of last year - was that one-day training which 40 

included the couple of hours in the afternoon for code of conduct. Do you - 

 

MR MANNOUN: I think - yes.  

  

MS McDONALD: And other than training during part of the induction package, can 45 

you recall any other training received by councillors specifically on this issue? 
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MR MANNOUN: In this term or previous terms?  

 

MS McDONALD: We'll start with this term.  

 

MR MANNOUN: I'm just trying to think of all the different training that we have 5 

had. I don't recall specifically with regard to the example I gave. I have a recollection 

in the previous term that we did have a training session. I know in my first term as 

mayor we would have a quarterly - a day away that we would - every - four times 

a year we would go and have a day full of - not full of training but there was training 

as part of it, but where we would go and do strategic planning, we would do 10 

workshops. Probably the - a day of workshops, in that there would be a little bit of 

training. And I found that as a very - very good model in that. You know, when 

you've allocated a - I think it was on a Saturday - we would spend the whole day, 

sometimes a Friday and a Saturday and a Sunday - we would - you would have to 

fair bit of time to go through things in detail. I guess you'd have everyone's, you 15 

know, attention for that whole time.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Did you say that was in your first term as mayor? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes. 20 

 

COMMISSIONER: And that hasn't been repeated in subsequent terms? 

 

MR MANNOUN: No, it hasn't.  

 25 

COMMISSIONER: Do you know why? 

 

MR MANNOUN: There's pressure on councils, through the media, that if we 

go - let's say we were to go to a conference or we go to - and theres been expenditure 

of, I think - let's say - call it $20,000. I think it was Ryde Council that - anyway - but 30 

it's happened to numerous councils, so - where they put this pressure on your and 

say, "Well, you're spending this money. Why are you spending ratepayers' money?" 

And then that's created this culture, where everybody just - "Okay. We're not doing 

that any more. We're" - "We don't want to do that," because whilst - even if 

councillors pay their own way, the CEO still has to pay for the staff to go there, and 35 

that has really put a negative impact.  

 

We did do one - did we do it twice? I think - we maybe have done it - did it twice in 

the last term, but this term we haven't done that way. And then the second part of that 

is that whilst there was an effort to try to organise one in this term, people were very 40 

busy and couldn't get that time away from people, which, yes, didn't help.  

  

COMMISSIONER: I understand that second point. Something like that could be 

done using existing council facilities rather than having to a - go away, as it were? 

 45 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. And we would do it - when we were in that routine of four 

times a year, we would do once locally in a council facility and then once we would 
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go away somewhere. The purpose of going away, I guess, is that sort of team 

bonding, building between councillors, the executive. And you'd say - and you'd 

really - you find people really opened up after that, which is really good, and you 

could deal with complex and hard decisions - you know, plant the seed early on and 

then work at it. You eventually get to a result at some point during the day.  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: I take it you found those sessions very useful?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Very useful.  

 10 

COMMISSIONER: Can you - you've told me some of that reason already, but 

anything else you'd want me to know?  

 

MR MANNOUN: So one of them - and having an independent facilitator was 

always a positive. And so one that we used was Peter Berry - Berry Consulting, and 15 

they used the psychometric profiling system - the Hogan system - and that was all 

councillors - well, in the first term all councillors did it, in the second term some 

councillors didn't want to do it. But what it did - it allowed everybody to know about 

each other a lot more. You know, what are your drivers, what are your motivators, 

why are you here for.  20 

 

You know, so I am - some of - an example of that was - funnily enough, Farooq and 

I are very similar, in that are hedonism score was effectively 1 out of 100, so we're 

extremely boring people, but we're scientifically driven. So we - our - I think our 

science score is 98 or 99. So I - if you're going to present stuff to us, present it in 25 

a form of data, numbers and facts. So you would have that, and that would then 

allow people to come, "Okay. Well, we'll present it to you like this from now on and 

forth," where other councillors had different things. What it was good at - it 

identified that our motivating factor from the councillors and the staff - we're all 

there for the same reason. We had the, sort of, altruism that we - that we had, so - 30 

 

COMMISSIONER: Do you think - I'm sorry, had you finished? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 35 

COMMISSIONER: Sorry, I didn't mean to interject. Do you think that something 

like that would be of benefit in the current term? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Indeed. I think it's something that - all councillors should do that, 

that psychometric profiling. And you're sharing it in a fun way and you're 40 

having - it's very positive and it'd be very positive with - for any organisation.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I had more in mind the weekend workshop sessions. Do you 

think they would be of benefit in the current term? 

 45 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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COMMISSIONER: For all the same reasons? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Is there anything else or any other comments you wanted to 5 

make about possible reintroduction of the internal Ombudsman? 

 

MR MANNOUN: No, I think I've provided my - my opinion, suggestion's enough.  

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry?  10 

 

MR MANNOUN: No, as in - it's good that - it would be great - once again, in 

summary, having it done, you know, externally as a group with a depth of resources, 

I think would be good.  

  15 

MS McDONALD: Now, late on Friday afternoon I turned to the topic of CEO, 

general managers, and I got you just to set out in summary form your understanding 

of a number of previous CEOs of Liverpool City Council.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: I want to go back to a couple of the CEOs. The first one was 

Mr Portelli. Mr Portelli was the CEO at the commencement of your first term as 

mayor?  

 25 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And then formally, I think, he left the organisation in July 2014?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Excuse me for a minute.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Was it July or March?  

 35 

MS McDONALD: I think formally there might have been a decision in March, but 

there was a period of notice or something along those lines and I think formally he 

left in July.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I think that's right. I think the resignation might have been 40 

tendered in March and then he finished in the July.  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Does that sound -  45 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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COMMISSIONER: The dates probably don't matter too much at the moment, but 

that sounds about right? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: Could we bring up a document. OLG.001.001.1716. Yes, please. 

Now, I just want to take you to the beginning of this. It's a briefing note from Office 

of Local Government. And you can see the issue is the decision by Liverpool City 

Council to terminate the employment of its general manager, Mr Portelli. I want to 10 

just take you to the first dot point:  

 

"There appears to have been relationship issues between the mayor, some councillors 

and the general manager of Liverpool City Council."  

 15 

Now, if I can just give you some background. If - and this is kind of set out in this 

note. If we then move down the page to Background, can you see in the second 

paragraph:  

 

"A mayoral minute which proposed the termination of the general manager's contract 20 

was introduced into a closed session at the Liverpool City Council's meeting on 18 

December 2013. At this meeting, a majority of councillors refused to deal with the 

matter and left the council..." 

 

I'll say without a quorum. Okay? And then it's got:  25 

 

"The meeting was adjourned until 23 December 2013."  

 

And then what appears to have occurred is, ultimately, in March 2014, at the council 

meeting - I think by that time Mr Portelli has now resigned. So what I want to 30 

concentrate on is your mayoral minute which proposed the termination of his 

contract, the mayoral minute which you pursued at the meeting of 18 December 

2013. Now, the top dot point referred to there appears to have been relationship 

issues between the mayor, some councillors and the general manager. Do you agree 

that there were some relationship issues at this time - that is, towards the end of 35 

2013 - between you and Mr Portelli? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And I don't - it's not necessary for the inquiry's purposes to drill 40 

down into great detail, but can you just summarise what the issues were? 

 

MR MANNOUN: It was 12 years ago.  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes, I know.  45 
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MR MANNOUN: And can I just ask a question to someone - to anyone, the - with 

Mr Portelli being the current - a current employee of Liverpool Council - 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 5 

MR MANNOUN: - I guess do I need to be mindful of -  

 

MS McDONALD: Well, Mr Portelli's given - I asked - we asked questions of 

Mr Portelli and he's given evidence about this.  

 10 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Just remind me - my recollection is it was in open session.  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. Yes, Commissioner. Sorry.  15 

 

MR MANNOUN: I don't have a specific - I guess exact recollection, but there are 

a few things that have stuck in my mind from that period.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Can you - and as I've said, I don't think we're looking 20 

into great detail, but just to use examples, would turn up to - late to work every day, 

or was late in providing information for a council meeting. So can you see I'm just 

putting a very general description of what the issue was?  

 

COMMISSIONER: By way of example?  25 

 

MS McDONALD: By way of - yes, by way of example, because there's no evidence 

of that whatsoever.  

 

MR MANNOUN: I don't know if I can summarise it, but I'm happy to speak on it.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: All right.  

 

MR MANNOUN: So there's - I guess there's three things that come to mind with 

regard to this. The first one is actually just following the election, and I remember 35 

having a meeting with Mr Portelli in his office and I was very, you can imagine, 

excited in winning this mayoralty, which no one ever thought would be possible, it 

being a Labor - held by a Labor politician for many years.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. So what was the issue with Mr Portelli? 40 

 

MR MANNOUN: So the elections happened - you know, in my mind I'm starting 

a new job, in that, you know - and this is my workplace, so on and so forth. And as 

you do in a workplace, you would - well, general practice of where I've worked 

previous times is you would take the person around, show them the building, walk 45 

them around, introduce them, "This is John, this is Jane," blah, blah, blah.  
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And - anyway, when I - so I asked Mr Portelli when will I get a - when do I get 

a tour of the building, and he said, "You don't," and I was like, "Well, why not?" He 

was like, "You don't work here and the staff don't work for you." And I was like, 

"Okay." And I guess what that led to is that - probably numerous awkward situations 

when you're in the lift and you have staff in there who are - don't know how to act, 5 

how to respond - you know, seeing a mayor every day or - and that you could see 

them nervous in the lift, and it - just create a very awkward work environment.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay.  

 10 

MR MANNOUN: And so that was a very - in a - the beginning of it.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right.  

 

MR MANNOUN: There was another - sorry.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: No, no, no. If we can just - as I said, I'm really not after detail -  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: - but just looking at the general areas where there were either 

tensions or relationship issues that arise between a mayor and a general manager.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. So the second one - and - is - was - there was - the way that 

the council was at that time, you could say there was a - myself, Councillor 25 

Ristevski, Councillor Mamone and Councillor Balloot - yes. Yes. So we were - and 

there was a strong view amongst, you can say, that group of councillors that 

Mr Portelli wasn't doing a good job.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay.  30 

 

MR MANNOUN: They didn't feel like they were being treated - and there was 

a sort of - a consent in my ear - a negativity.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. So there were issues that other councillors were 35 

expressing to you - that they didn't think he was doing a good job? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Correct.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. And is there a - I think you said there were three areas.  40 

 

MR MANNOUN: The third one - and for me which was the most concerning is - as 

you - when we say a breakdown of relationship, relationships are built on trust. There 

was a council - council building burnt down in 2011, it was, and we had to go and 

find a new building. There was one for sale. We purchased the building, we moved 45 

into it. Anyway, there was an issue with the fire a few years later - I think we were 
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getting our fire safety certificate for the building and it turned out we were 

inadequate and there was - there were fire safety issues with the building.  

 

So a tender then - process happened. And when the tender was completed, I think it 

was for - it was above the threshold at the time that the CEO could sign off under the 5 

delegation under the OLG - or under the guidelines. And I remember Mr Portelli 

coming in and sitting with me and saying that, "I would like you to sign off on this 

tender." I said, "Well, how can I do that?" He said, "Well, under your policy-making 

functions in the Act." And I'm like, "I cannot use policy-making functions to sign off 

on a tender." And we went back and forth on that matter, and he said, obviously, it 10 

was urgent, it's an emergency, which I understood - that was established, but I didn't 

see any ability within the Act for me to sign off on a tender.  

 

I felt very concerned that that was a - basically, if you cannot rely on your CEO to 

give you advice - and my view is - and still is to this day - I would have been in 15 

breach of the Act had I signed off on that.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right.  

 

MR MANNOUN: And had I taken the advice of the CEO, I would be in - problems.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: So you - the third example is you were concerned about some 

advice -  

 

MR MANNOUN: Significant advice.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: - that the CEO gave.  

 

MR MANNOUN: So - and what I did, just to -  

 30 

MS McDONALD: No, no, no. That's fine, I just want the topics.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: So you've got those three areas that you've identified. You then 35 

determine that Mr Portelli's employment should be terminated.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And from what you've told the Commissioner, you've got three 40 

grounds of concern.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, the way that it appears you went about that is that at the 45 

meeting of 18 December you produced a mayoral minute?  

 



 

 

 

 

LCC Inquiry – 24.11.2025 P-3644  Transcript by Law In Order 

 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And the mayoral minute - and as should be in a staff matter, it's 

appropriate the council goes into a closed session.  

 5 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: But the problem was the majority of councillors refused to deal 

with the matter and left the meeting, leaving you with no quorum.  

 10 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, in those circumstances, where it appears that you've 

got - well, sorry, it doesn't appear, I withdraw that. You have told the Commissioner 

that you've got three areas of concern which in your view justifies the termination of 15 

the CEO's employment. Why didn't you encapsulate that or put that in a confidential 

notice of motion or report to the council? 

 

MS RICHARDSON: I object to the question. My learned friend has made clear in 

the lead-up question that she's not interested in particular detail and just asking the 20 

witness to identify summary high-level things, and now that has been elevated to a 

specific concern. The question cannot be put in that way. It's contrary to the lead-up 

that my learned friend (indistinct) where the witness has specifically been told, 

"I just want a summary, give me examples," indicated he doesn't have a clear 

recollection because it was more than 12 years ago. So the premise of the question is 25 

not fair.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I think I'll reject the question in that form. I think the question 

is going more to process, but - 

 30 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 

 

COMMISSIONER: - a premise issue did arise. So perhaps rephrase the 

question - will clear that up.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun, you've given evidence, in your words, three things 

that you were concerned about - the performance or the conduct of the CEO; correct? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: And those three things - at least those three things formed the 

basis of your decision that the CEO's employment should be terminated?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: Accepting that those three things were the basis of your concern 

and that you wished the council to consider the termination of his employment, why 
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didn't you set out, in a confidential report or notice of motion to council, "These are 

my areas of concern and my proposal is that the employment is terminated"? Why 

didn't you follow that procedure instead of the mayoral minute? 

 

MR MANNOUN: When you say the "mayoral minute", I don't remember the 5 

mayoral minute that I put up.  

 

MS McDONALD: I'll bring it up for you.  

 

MR MANNOUN: And so while that's happening, can I ask - is it because it's - the 10 

content of the mayoral minute or because it's a mayoral minute?  

 

COMMISSIONER: I think what you're being asked about is the process. So you 

brought this to council by way of a mayoral minute. As I understand, what - we'll 

bring the mayoral minute up to refresh your memory, of course, but what 15 

I understand senior counsel assisting is exploring with you is why did you use 

a mayoral minute as opposed to putting it - albeit in a confidential part of the 

papers - a notice of motion with a report from you. Are you clear in that? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, I understand that. Yes. Thank you.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: Can you answer that or did you - we're just trying to find -  

 

MR MANNOUN: So, yes, look, I don't think it's - 

 25 

MS McDONALD: Can I just pause. A mayoral minute is a minute that, in a sense, 

you introduce on the floor of the council meeting?  

 

MR MANNOUN: No. No. A mayoral minute can be introduced on the floor without 

notice. But mayoral minutes do get subjected from time to time. They get circulated 30 

to councillors before meetings. I don't - I don't - to distinguish from a councillor, 

I don't put up notices of motion. I put it on the agenda a week beforehand, then it is 

a - it's fashioned as a mayoral minute.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. But - we'll get to this later in your evidence, but there 35 

has been complaint that a number of your mayoral minutes dealing with substantial 

matters, and at times complex matters, are mayoral minutes that you introduce on the 

floor of the council.  

 

MR MANNOUN: That - I've heard that evidence, yes.  40 

 

MS McDONALD: And you agree with that, that you have done that in the past? 

 

MR MANNOUN: The - I have put up mayoral minutes, yes, without notice, as per - 

 45 

MS McDONALD: Yes. And dealing with subject matters which could be 

described - which are described as complex or substantial.  
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MR MANNOUN: I would have to see the mayoral minute you're referring to.  

 

MS McDONALD: We'll come to it. Can you just excuse me.  

 5 

COMMISSIONER: Just so I'm clear about how you go about it, when you want to 

introduce things to council meetings, as the mayor it's always by way of mayoral 

minute rather than notice of motion?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  10 

 

COMMISSIONER: And sometimes those mayoral minutes will be - do they form 

part of the agenda book? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Sometimes, yes.  15 

 

COMMISSIONER: But sometimes they're introduced during the meeting? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Well - yes, so sometimes during the meeting, sometimes 

before the meeting - on the day. Sometimes a few days beforehand.  20 

 

COMMISSIONER: What, you would -  

 

MR MANNOUN: Before the meeting.  

 25 

COMMISSIONER: You would circulate your mayoral minute?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: To whom?  30 

 

MR MANNOUN: To councillors.  

 

COMMISSIONER: To all the councillors?  

 35 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. It would be sent to executive services and then they would 

send them out. So I have - there's a - there's now - for Wednesday's meeting there 

should be mayoral minutes that have been circulated to councillors.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Has anyone raised your use of mayoral minutes with you 40 

during your various terms?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Do you remember who? 45 
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MR MANNOUN: Councillor Harle and the deputy mayor now, Councillor Dr Betty 

Green.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Do you remember what they said to you about it? Not the exact 

words but the substance.  5 

 

MR MANNOUN: They - they would have liked more notice to deal with it. So -  

 

COMMISSIONER: These are particular issues that have come up and they've 

expressed to you that they would have liked more notice?  10 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. And I think sometimes the quantum is probably a bit much, 

even if there are - let's say there were - seven mayoral minutes come into the council 

meeting, and - you know, they gradually sort of - if I can use the term ratchet up, 

in - you know, the - you know, what may have - the seventh one, let's call that the 15 

most - the largest one. If it was - probably introduced in its singularity - may not 

have been as bad. It was more like, you know, "Why are you giving me so much to 

read in such a short period of time?" which I acknowledge is - it makes their 

life - can make their life challenging.  

 20 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. You and your colleagues would all like more time to get 

on top of what's before the meeting, I'm sure.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. And my - my mayoral minute that's in the agenda now 

relates to actually - and it's - obviously seeing the evidence that has come here 25 

today - and we know obviously the - now the changes to the code of conduct. So 

we're introducing - my suggestion is to introduce a best practice model, where they 

introduced four - they should be introduced - four-day hours from a council meeting, 

but - not only mayoral minutes but also significant amendments to motions. Because 

when we do get an amendment, we're trying to draft it on the spot and make sure it 30 

works - is challenging in itself. So if we can get that earlier and get circulated 

earlier -  

 

COMMISSIONER: Well, these policy changes are rather gazumping me. That's in 

your mayoral minute that's in the papers for Wednesday's meeting?  35 

 

MR MANNOUN: For Wednesday's, yes. Should it - well, it's been circulated.  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Why have you made that suggestion? What's 

prompted it? Because at the - the changes that are coming in would, on one view, 40 

remove any restrictions on the use of mayoral minutes into the future.  

 

MR MANNOUN: So the - I guess it's empathising with the councillors, 

understanding their position and trying to - you know, if we can get everybody to 

work together, then that should be the objective. So at the moment, 90-plus per cent 45 

of our resolutions at council are being done unanimously, which I think is a good 

metric. Now, to maintain that - I have to go back for a moment.  
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When I got - when I was elected in 2021, the goal of bringing everybody together 

was paramount in my mind because there were challenges that happened at the end 

of the last - of my first term as mayor. So myself and all the councillors would - all 

councillors - all - so the 11 of us would meet in my office prior to the council 5 

meeting and we would have discussions about issues. I would propose to 

them - I would say here are the minutes that I was putting up, this is what I'm 

proposing to do, and we would have a - we were having really good conversations 

and discussions. But then that fell apart, unfortunately, in around September '22, 

when that stopped happening.  10 

 

So I guess in the beginning of the term there was that - we were - everybody knew 

what was - there were the mayoral minutes, they had ample notice of them, and then 

that went away. So that's, I guess, sort of - in a way, you could say re-establishing 

that. But secondly is watching the evidence within the inquiry and putting it on from 15 

a - once again seeing it from other councillors' point of view and saying, "Well, yes, 

look, it would make it better." And a lot of them don't need to - don't need to come 

late. A lot of it is late just because of the workload and not, probably, being 

organised enough. So if it's like - if it's a matter of organisation, then so be it. There 

are - is always going to be a matter that might happen in the morning that we might 20 

have to deal with, but they shouldn't tick - they shouldn't -  

 

COMMISSIONER: It would be the exception rather than the norm?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Correct. Yes. And I think if we operate that way, then councillors 25 

would accept the exceptions.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Sorry, Ms McDonald. I took us on a tangent.  

 

MS McDONALD: We're getting the - and, sorry, your evidence that in the past, on 30 

occasion, you have distributed a mayoral minute beforehand. Does that mean it's part 

of the agenda?  

 

MR MANNOUN: If it's - 

 35 

MS McDONALD: Included in the agenda book?  

 

MR MANNOUN: If it is given in time for the printing deadline. And I think 

sometimes they're fashioned as mayoral reports - I've seen them in there - that before. 

But that would probably be the exception, because I think that - what is it now, is it 40 

nine days? Whenever the agenda closes, they're not usually ready at that point in 

time. However, they're usually ready three to four days beforehand, which would 

then - which means they either - it's not - they don't even put it as an addendum 

booklet, because the staff - the staff do give us addendum booklets themselves. So 

they're putting up things in the last - with short notice as well, but my mayoral 45 

minutes wouldn't go up as an addendum booklet. They would be singular mayor 

minutes that have been sent to councillors.  
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MS McDONALD: Could you just excuse me.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Commissioner, can I just add as well -  

 5 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 

MR MANNOUN: - that in discussing - I did ask other mayors what they - what their 

sort of - how they treated mayoral minutes, what their custom was, and then I found 

that there was - yes, they did do - they did try to get them out earlier beforehand as 10 

well. And that was just amongst my Liberal colleagues as well. That was another 

factor in my decision-making.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: We're just getting the agenda for the December meeting 

down - uploaded, I'm sorry. But if you would accept it - in the order there is 

a reference to "mayoral report", but when you actually look at the rest of the agenda 

there are no mayoral reports. And I take it - at that time, is a mayoral report 

a mayoral minute? 20 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: So the mayoral minute you put forward seeking the termination 

of Mr Portelli's employment was not part of the agenda. Is this a report or minute that 25 

you introduced and moved on the floor of the council? 

 

MR MANNOUN: I don't have any recollection.  

 

MS McDONALD: In the circumstances - I'm sorry, withdraw that. Do you 30 

recall - did you have any conversation or discussion with Mr Portelli, before you 

decided to introduce the mayoral report at the council, about what you were 

proposing to do? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, I have a vague recollection.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: And what discussion did you have? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Something along the lines of I - just telling him what my 

intention was, and -  40 

 

MS McDONALD: And you did that because you were of the view that, according to 

Mr Portelli - that that was - what you were going to do was fair in the circumstances? 

 

MR MANNOUN: As an exercise of his contract.  45 

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry? 
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MR MANNOUN: As an exercise of his contract.  

 

MS McDONALD: What do you mean by as an exercise of his contract? 

 5 

MR MANNOUN: As in the provision within his contract.  

 

MS McDONALD: What was the provision within his contract? 

 

MR MANNOUN: I don't recall specifically.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: What, are you saying there was a provision in his contract that 

you had to notify him that you were going to basically move for his employment to 

be terminated?  

 15 

MR MANNOUN: No. Sorry. I meant the termination under a part of his contract - is 

what I was referring to.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. But that's what I'm interested in. Your recollection is 

you - before the council meeting you had a discussion with Mr Portelli, where you 20 

said something along the lines of, "I'm going to move for your contract of 

employment to be terminated."  

 

MR MANNOUN: I have a vague recollection of that, yes.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: All right. And you had that - and did you also set out to 

Mr Portelli why you were going to do that? 

 

MR MANNOUN: I don't recall.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: Okay. But your recollection that you informed Mr Portelli 

beforehand, you did that as a matter of fairness to Mr Portelli?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Fairness could be used as the word, yes.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: Well, at least it's some form of procedural fairness for 

Mr Portelli to know that this is going to be before council, albeit in a closed session, 

but ultimately with the resolution being announced at council that his employment 

was going to be terminated. So it's just an aspect of procedural fairness to 

Mr Portelli?  40 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: We're still having difficulty. What I'll do is I'll progress. And 

when the documents are finally uploaded, if I feel I have to go back and ask you 45 

some further questions I'll do that.  
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COMMISSIONER: What's the document?  

 

MS McDONALD: It's the agenda for the 18 December 2013 meeting and also the 

minutes of that meeting.  

 5 

COMMISSIONER: I see. The topic you've just - 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I'm sorry. Yes.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: But I think, as in that OLG document - if we can bring that up 

again. It would appear, if we go towards the bottom of the page - it describes the 

mayoral minute which proposed the termination of the contract was introduced in 

a closed session, but it didn't have a quorum. The meeting was adjourned until 23 15 

December, and then there seems to have been some kind of complaint by Mr Portelli 

to the Office of Local Government, with, ultimately, the Office of Local Government 

determining that the complaint did not meet the criteria under the Public Interest 

Disclosure Act for it to be considered a public interest disclosure.  

 20 

And then, as it said, the office's determination was provided to Mr Portelli and 

Liverpool City Council on 20 March. And then our - I think the record that I gave 

you on Friday was that Mr Portelli, I think, resigned in those circumstances on about 

24 March. But as the Commissioner said, he formally resigned but it took effect from 

about July 2014.  25 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And does that accord with your recollection? 

 30 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, the next CEO that you had - excuse me - dealings with was 

Dr Eddie Jackson.  

 35 

MR MANNOUN: The next CEO?  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. After - I'm sorry, withdraw that, I did express that not 

correctly. There was obviously a CEO appointed once - that was Carl Wulff - for the 

rest of your time as the mayor from 2012 to 2016.  40 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. And then there was - I think we went through the timeline, 

and Michael Cullen was there at the - 

 

MS McDONALD: And also Kiersten Fishburn?  45 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: When you weren't the mayor or a member of council.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, Kiersten Fishburn.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: And then the next CEO I wanted to ask you about was Dr Eddie 

Jackson.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 10 

COMMISSIONER: Just before you do, when did Mr Wulff finish? Was he during 

your term or just after?  

 

MR MANNOUN: He was just before the end of my term.  

 15 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. That's what I thought.  

 

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry. I've missed - I've got Mr Wulff was CEO from July 

2014 to July 2016. Does that sound about right? 

 20 

MR MANNOUN: The beginning doesn't sound right.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Only because there was - so when Mr Portelli finished, there was 25 

Rob Noble who acted for a short period of time whilst the recruitment happened. I'm 

just trying - I was just thinking in my mind - I'm -  

 

COMMISSIONER: But the end sounds right? A couple of months before the end of 

the council term?  30 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Right. So Mr Wulff left his employment as CEO while you were 

still mayor?  35 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: I didn't pick that up, sorry. Can you recall the - and again just 

broadly, the circumstances in which his employment ended? 40 

 

MR MANNOUN: It was - it was a resolution of council which I did not vote for.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay.  

 45 

MR MANNOUN: There was a significant pressure placed on councillors from the 

United Services Union.  
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MS McDONALD: All right. I'm going to stop you there. Can I just 

ask - a resolution of Liverpool City Council, did - was the resolution that his 

employment be terminated without cause so that he then received the 38 weeks? 

 5 

MR MANNOUN: I don't remember specifically, but I think yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. So your recollection, it was a resolution of the council?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: And it's your recollection - is that it relied on the provision of his 

contract that employment can be terminated without cause but the CEO receives, I 

think, about 38 weeks' payment of salary in lieu of notice?  

 15 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, I think that's what the second motion - because there were 

two motions at two different meetings. I think the second motion covered that.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Excuse me for a minute. Can I - we might come back 

to Mr Wulff because I didn't realise you were still the mayor at the time his 20 

employment was ended.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Just before you do so -  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 25 

 

COMMISSIONER: Before I - if don't ask now I'll forget. Based on your earlier 

answer - did you say you didn't vote for the resolution?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Correct.  30 

 

COMMISSIONER: So did you - were you - did you - this may sound obvious, but 

did you move the motion? 

 

MR MANNOUN: No. It was Councillor Ristevski, if I recall correctly.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: Councillor Ristevski moved the motion? 

 

MR MANNOUN: From my recollection, yes.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: And -  

 

MR MANNOUN: And - yes. Sorry.  

 

MS McDONALD: And that was after your falling out with Mr Ristevski?  45 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: All right. Can I turn, then, to Dr Eddie Jackson. Now, he was 

acting in the role from July 2020 to November 2020 and then was permanently in the 

role from November 2020 to February 2022. Does that sound about -  

 5 

MR MANNOUN: What was the last date?  

 

MS McDONALD: February 2022.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: And you were elected mayor in - I think it was about December 

2021.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: Now - and at the 2 February meeting, 2 February 2022, 

Mr Jackson's contract as CEO was terminated? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: And that appears to - that motion appears to have been 

introduced to the council via a mayoral minute.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: And if we can bring up the minutes for the meeting - and it's 

INQ.001.001.0953. Yes, please. And I think it's at page 56. We've got mayoral 

minute number 6, report of you, and then the council - sorry, could we go to the page 

before. Yes. I apologise, this is the one I meant. Page 55, you've got mayoral minute 30 

number 5. And if you look at the motion number 3:  

 

"Terminate the CEO's contract from 11 February 2022 under section 10.3.5 of the 

employment contract. Direct the mayor to enter into direct negotiation with the CEO 

to formally agree on a deed of settlement amount." 35 

 

Then:  

 

"Direct the mayor to notify the CEO in writing of the decision to terminate [his] 

employment contract." 40 

 

And then if we keep on going:  

 

"On being put to the meeting the motion was declared carried." 

 45 

And it wasn't unanimously carried. It appears that five of the councillors affiliated 

with the Liberal Party voted in favour of it.  
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MR MANNOUN: Yes. 

 

MS McDONALD: And then Councillor Rhodes, who was an independent.  

 5 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And Councillors Ammoun, Goodman and Macnaught, they had 

been elected for the first time to council in December and this was their first council 

meeting.  10 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Right. Now, in the lead-up to the election in December, did you 

have some kind of meeting or conversation with Dr Jackson? 15 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Was this part of Dr Jackson meeting - to your knowledge, 

meeting the various candidates for mayor?  20 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And during that meeting, did you have a conversation with him 

along the lines - if you were successful, that Dr Jackson wasn't the type of CEO that 25 

you wanted? 

 

MR MANNOUN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: So you deny that conversation took place? 30 

 

MR MANNOUN: There were two meetings that we had. One was before - 

 

MS McDONALD: That's the one I'm asking you about.  

 35 

MR MANNOUN: - election. Yes. Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: So at that meeting, do you - did you have any discussion with 

Dr Jackson about, if you were successful, what would happen to his position as 

CEO? 40 

 

MR MANNOUN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: After the results were declared, did you have at least another 

conversation with Dr Jackson? 45 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: And during that time, was the prospects or the - sorry, 

I withdraw that - the future of Dr Jackson's employment discussed? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: And during that discussion, did you raise with him 

your - a proposition that Dr Jackson leaves the organisation? 

 

MR MANNOUN: No.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: During that conversation, did Dr Jackson raise with you his very 

good performance reviews that had been conducted in November? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: And in that meeting, did you say to him something along the 

lines of - that you didn't want him to continue as CEO? 

 

MR MANNOUN: No.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: I think the version put to Dr Jackson was that he 

raised with - your account is that he raised with you the termination of his 

employment?  

 25 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. And the payment of, I think, 52 weeks.  

 

MS McDONALD: And what was - according to your evidence, how did you react to 

that? 

 30 

MR MANNOUN: I wasn't - I wasn't aware. I was a bit taken aback. I wasn't aware 

that there was a provision within the CEO's contract that allowed a payment above 

38 weeks. So I was puzzled when he first brought it up. And then he pointed me out, 

yes, there is a provision to do so.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: All right. And so you were agreeable to pursuing this? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Of course, the alternative would have been to allow Dr Jackson 40 

to perform his work as the CEO for a couple of months?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Sorry, what's the question?  

 

MS McDONALD: Another alternative to pursuing what you say was Dr Jackson's 45 

proposal to pay him out was to say to Dr Jackson, "Look, why don't we see how you 

go for a couple of months? We've got new councillors who have never worked with 
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you before, let's see how you go over January, February, March, see if we're working 

well together, how it's going."  

 

MR MANNOUN: Well, there was never a question of working well or not working 

well. I think Dr - Dr Jackson is a lovely gentleman and I know he recently applied to 5 

be CEO in the recent recruitment process. So there was no - there was never 

a question in that sense of working well together. That was never a question.  

 

MS McDONALD: No, I'm not asking you that. You've got a proposal - your 

evidence - and this is your evidence - Dr Jackson doesn't agree with it, but 10 

I understand your evidence is the termination of the contract was raised by 

Dr Jackson.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: The termination of the contract is going to cause the ratepayers 

of Liverpool to pay out considerable sums.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: Did you contemplate saying to Dr Jackson, "Well, no, won't 

terminate your contract. Let's give this relationship a couple of months to see how we 

work together"?  

 

MR MANNOUN: My issues with, I guess - the word "relationship" was not relevant 25 

in the conversation.  

 

MS McDONALD: No, I'm not - what I'm putting to you is, according to your 

version of this conversation, the termination of the contract of employment was 

raised by Dr Jackson. Right? 30 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: How did it come up? 

 35 

MR MANNOUN: There was a - a wide-ranging discussion with regards to what 

people had voted on. So -  

 

COMMISSIONER: Sorry, this is after you've been elected? 

 40 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. So this is in between the election day and the declaration of 

the polls. So we had a discussion and we were talking about numerous things - things 

that I believe could be improved, from my views as a resident, what the residents 

were saying, providing that feedback through the process, and also saying, well, 

these are things that we want to deliver because this is what we promised the 45 

community, this is what we want to do. We talked about Civic Place, the challenges 

with that.  
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And I gave the - or we talked about the ambition ultimately about it, and I used the 

line of that, "I don't want to just be in the Premier League, I want to win the Premier 

League," right, and that's when he said - he goes, "Well, we're not even in the 

Premier League." You know, "We're five years away." And then he said, "Well, Ned, 5 

if you're not happy with me, then pay me out 52 weeks." And that's when I was like, 

"How can you even pay out 52 weeks?" And he explained to me how, but in my 

mind I was like, "Well, he's obviously come prepared," because I've never once 

heard of anyone getting paid more than 38 weeks in a contract. And what that kind of 

demonstrated is that, I guess, he was - a willingness and prepared to go if he got the 10 

right number.  

 

MS McDONALD: But you didn't have to accept his proposal, did you. 

 

 15 

MR MANNOUN: No. 

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED TO PRIVATE SESSION AT 11.44 AM  
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<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 11.46 AM 

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun, what I'm suggesting to you is, based on your 

account of this conversation, you did not have to accept the proposal by 5 

Mr Jackson - or Dr Jackson - to terminate his contract of employment.  

 

MR MANNOUN: I didn't have to accept it, and I didn't really accept it.  

 

MS McDONALD: Well, you did because you ultimately put up a motion to council 10 

that his contract be terminated and he be paid a certain amount of money.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: So -  15 

 

MR MANNOUN: And that was, I think - this meeting was mid-December. And I 

think by the time the meeting had come, probably six weeks, seven weeks had 

passed -  

 20 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 

 

MR MANNOUN: - since then, where there were other subsequent discussions 

between myself and councillors.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: But what I'm saying to you is you did - your evidence is this 

proposal to terminate his employment emanated or originated from Dr Jackson.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: You did not, at any time, have to accept that proposal, did you? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Correct. Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: You could have suggested to Dr Jackson that he continue in his 35 

role for a couple of months and see how he is performing. That was a possibility, 

wasn't it? 

 

MR MANNOUN: It was a possibility, but I - I don't agree with that it was a - well, 

subject to how you determine performance, there were issues that I guess would not 40 

have changed over that three-month period, which laid - which guided, I guess, my 

opinions about him. Not about him but about - I'll just say about him, to make it 

easier.  

 

MS McDONALD: About, sorry? 45 

 

MR MANNOUN: About him.  
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MS McDONALD: Commissioner, I note the time.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: Kind of gone over.  

 

COMMISSIONER: That's all right. Councillor, we're going to take our midmorning 

break for 20 minutes. I'll resume at 10 past 12. If you wouldn't mind being back here, 

ready to go then I would be most grateful. And I'll adjourn until 10 past 12. 10 

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 11.49 AM  

  

<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 12.21 PM  

 15 

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun, before the break I was asking you some questions 

leading up to the termination of Dr Jackson's employment.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: You gave evidence that after your election and in the lead-up to 

the 1 February meeting there were some matters which raised some concern with 

you, and ultimately there was an agreement between you and Dr Jackson that his 

employment would be terminated.  

 25 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. Now - so in respect of Dr Jackson, in the lead-up to the 

meeting on 2 February Dr Jackson knew that there would be some motion before the 

council that his employment be terminated?  30 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Councillor Harle has given evidence to this inquiry that the first 

time he learnt that there was a proposal to terminate Dr Jackson's employment is 35 

when he attended a meeting shortly before the council meeting of 2 February, where 

he was informed.  

 

MR MANNOUN: When shortly was it - a day or two or over the weekend?  

 40 

MS McDONALD: No, a short period before - on 2 February, before the council 

meeting commenced.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Well, that's his evidence.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: Does that accord with your recollection? 
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MS RICHARDSON: I object to that. The witness is being asked his recollection 

about what was in someone else's evidence. The question should be rephrased 

(indistinct). 

 

COMMISSIONER: It can perhaps be clarified.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. When do you say Councillor Harle was informed of the 

motion to end or terminate Dr Jackson's employment? 

 

MR MANNOUN: I can't put a specific time on it, and why I was just seeking some 10 

clarification is, from my recollection, there was a meeting that happened, I think, in 

my office on the Saturday beforehand, and that was - I think there was a - there was 

some civic or community event in the CBD, and then afterwards I remember - 

 

MS McDONALD: Well, who attends this meeting? 15 

 

MR MANNOUN: I don't remember specifically. And I guess what I'm getting 

at - then there's - as I was giving evidence earlier, the councillors used to meet - we 

all - all 11 of us used to meet in my office either the day before the council meeting 

or the day of the council meeting.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: Well, Councillor Harle's evidence was that shortly before the 

meeting on 2 February he attended a meeting that you were present at and the 

councillors affiliated with the Liberal Party were present at, and that what was 

discussed was committees that he may want to be part of, or a member of, and also 25 

the role of deputy mayor.  

 

MR MANNOUN: So my - my recollection, without having my diary, is that there 

would have either been a meeting on the Tuesday or the Wednesday prior to the 

council meeting, and that all councillors were present at that time, not just the Liberal 30 

councillors. And independents.  

 

MS McDONALD: Well, there's evidence before the inquiry that at least two 

councillors only learnt about the proposal to move a motion at the meeting on 2 

February shortly before the meeting on 2 February.  35 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, I don't - I don't disagree with that.  

 

MS McDONALD: And that would be consistent with the mayoral minute that you 

put before the council, being moved or - I'm sorry, withdraw that. That is consistent 40 

with the mayoral minute that you were moving on being revealed to the other 

councillors either at the council meeting or shortly before the council meeting.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 45 
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MS McDONALD: And if we could bring up, first, LCC.002.007.0072. Yes, please. 

You can see it's a mayoral minute with a date of 2 February, which was the date of 

the council meeting. 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: And after the introductory paragraphs there's a recommendation 

that council acknowledges the contributions and capabilities of the CEO over the 

course of his employment with council. And then under 3:  

 10 

"Terminate the CEO's contract from 11 February..."  

 

Under a particular section of the employment contract.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: And then in 4:  

 

"Direct the Mayor to enter into direct negotiations ... to formally agree a deed of 

settlement amount."  20 

 

With a maximum amount in terms of weeks stipulated. 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: So - and then there are some other procedural provisions. If we 

now go to the minutes, which I think is INQ.001.001.0953 - if we can go through to 

page 55. Sorry, live streamed. Sorry. This is the mayoral minute. And you can see 

that, if you just continue down a little bit, it's basically the mayoral minute that I set 

out - just took you to, but I think there's an absence of the reference to the maximum 30 

number of weeks that the settlement could reflect or incorporate. Do you agree with 

that? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: And ultimately, with this termination of his 

employment - I won't go into the actual amount or the number of weeks, but it was 

negotiated more than the weeks contained in the CEO's contract of employment? 

 

MR MANNOUN: I don't remember specifically because the negotiations were 40 

handled by LGNSW, Mr Adam Dansie.  

 

MS McDONALD: But you must have ultimately known - you must have given 

some guidance to Mr Dansie about this is what you can go up to? 

 45 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: And you agreed it was more than the provision in the contract of 

employment? 

 

MR MANNOUN: From my recollection, yes.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: And ultimately, Dr Jackson received an amount above the 

amount stipulated in the contract of employment? 

 

MR MANNOUN: That - are you referring to - when you say "above", are you 

referring to the section that talks about the 38 weeks? Yes. I'm just not sure if that 10 

was 10.35 - if that's the one.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. But I'm talking about, ultimately, what was negotiated 

with Dr Jackson and what he was ultimately paid. And we're not going into the 

actual number of weeks or the actual money, but it was more - it was an amount 15 

based on a number of weeks more than the 38 weeks.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Are you saying Mr Dansie did the negotiation with 20 

Dr Jackson?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Was that something that you instigated, you put in place? Or 25 

do you remember how that came about that he was the one negotiating on behalf of 

council?  

 

MR MANNOUN: So there was - this - if I can go back - I think will help me 

remember that. This was drawn up by council's general counsel at the time, this 30 

mayoral minute - Ms Jennifer Chenhall. Then I remember - I think it was in - was 

it - no, sorry, I'm getting my Decembers mixed up.  

 

COMMISSIONER: It's all right. If you don't remember, that's perfectly fine.  

 35 

MR MANNOUN: I know the Office of Local Government - not the Office of - so 

the LGNSW provides this service. I'm trying to think where I - I don't remember 

specifically who recommended it.  

 

COMMISSIONER: That's all right. Ultimately it happened.  40 

 

MR MANNOUN: Ultimately it happened, yes. I -  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. I now want to move to the next CEO, Mr Ajaka.  

 45 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Sorry, are we finished with Mr Jackson? Is that - 
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MS McDONALD: Yes. Now, Mr Ajaka -  

 

MR MANNOUN: Just before you - will there be an opportunity to give further 

evidence regarding Mr Jackson? 

 5 

MS McDONALD: Well, I've asked my questions. 

 

COMMISSIONER: Ms Richardson will have an opportunity to ask you some 

questions.  

 10 

MR MANNOUN: Thank you.  

 

COMMISSIONER: And if I need some more clarification, I might ask you some as 

well, but -  

 15 

MR MANNOUN: Thank you.  

 

COMMISSIONER: - "yes" is the answer.  

 

MS McDONALD: Dealing with Mr Ajaka - and Mr Ajaka was appointed - I think it 20 

was roughly in about December 2022? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: I think he started, in a sense, full-time in the job some time in 25 

January 2023? 

 

MR MANNOUN: He did a week in December, something like that. And then 

he - because I think he had a pre-booked holiday.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: So he started, really, working in the job in January 2023? 

 

MR MANNOUN: No, I think he was there in December for - 

 

MS McDONALD: Well, he was there for a week, then he went on leave.  35 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: So he came back after leave and he was working in the job? 

 40 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, in - I'm just going to put it roughly - around March 

2024 - I'm sorry, withdraw that. After Mr Ajaka was appointed to the CEO role, your 

working relationship with him - for a period in your view, were you working well 45 

together? 
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MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: If we turn to about March 2024, around that time had some 

tensions developed in the relationship? 

 5 

MR MANNOUN: March? Not necessarily, no.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. So in your view, in March 2024 the relationship - the 

work relationship between the two of you was the same as the relationship the year 

before? 10 

 

MR MANNOUN: No. I think in around November '23 I sensed it was a little bit 

different. Like, from -  

 

MS McDONALD: You sensed Mr Ajaka - 15 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. But from my point of view I had no issue with him.  

 

MS McDONALD: So in March, did you think the relationship was as strong or has 

it changed in any way? 20 

 

MR MANNOUN: I would say as - well, as strong except for him. I said - like I said, 

I sensed there may have been a - there was something that was bothering him.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. At the beginning of April up until about 12 April, had 25 

the relationship, from your perspective - the work relationship, from your 

perspective, changed in any way? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Did you say 12 April?  

 30 

MS McDONALD: Up until 12 April.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Is that - sorry, of the meeting that's been referred to numerous 

times or - I just want to - think of what's the significance of 12 April.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: The email that you send with a request for modelling.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Okay. So that email on the 12th. So what was the question 

again? Was the relationship as - 

 40 

MS McDONALD: I'm using that as an end point at the moment. So up until about 

12 April, in your view, had your work relationship with Mr Ajaka changed? 

 

MR MANNOUN: No.  

 45 
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MS McDONALD: Can we bring up the email, which is LCC.008.001.0016. Yes. 

Sorry, could you just go down a page. Yes, there. That's the email that you sent on 12 

April, at about 9.23 am? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: And that's the email where you require modelling and 

recommendations for the budget. And this is not the best version, but there were 

basically four points that you set out there?  

 10 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: When you sent that to Mr Ajaka, you were of the view that 

Mr Ajaka was going to hate this email?  

 15 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And you were of the view that he will "lose it" when he receives 

the email?  

 20 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Why were you of the view that he will hate it and "lose it" about 

the email? 

 25 

MR MANNOUN: So it gets back to his Hogan profile. Mr Ajaka is a peacemaker. 

He doesn't like upsetting people, according to his profile. And ultimately, this is 

a - you know, there could be difficulty in this.  

 

MS McDONALD: So you knew that there were going to be difficulties in sending 30 

this email with some of the areas where you're seeking modelling and 

recommendations? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, I knew there would be - as I said, that - he doesn't like 

making hard decisions. That would be difficult for him. But in sending this, once 35 

again, as a - asking for modelling is under 352 - reads as - as permissible thing to do, 

but I'm not asking him to - let me put it - to change the views of any of his 

recommendations.  

 

MS McDONALD: You're not what, sorry? I missed that last answer. You said 40 

recommendations are permissible and you referred to a section of the Local 

Government Act.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: And then you said something about recommendations and 

I didn't hear your answer.  
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MR MANNOUN: Yes. So I guess asking for modelling but not asking him to 

change his views of - or recommendation. So staff can't - you can't ask staff to 

change their views or change the recommendations. So, i.e., "Can you please model 

this?" Yes, entitled to. However, my recommendation is this and stays this.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

MR MANNOUN: So I guess once - what I'm getting at is all I'm doing here is 

asking for modelling for - 10 

 

MS McDONALD: And recommendations.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, and his recommendations.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: And implicit in that was his recommendations based on the 

modelling that resulted? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: It's implicit in your request, isn't it?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes. But his recommendations stay his recommendations. 

I'm not asking him to make a recommendation in any way.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: You say to him, "Do modelling"; correct?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And then implicit in your request is once the modelling has been 30 

obtained, what are the recommendations that flow from the modelling for the 

budget?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. But they're - I just need to make clear, it's his 

recommendations of what he thinks.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: Now - excuse me for a minute.  

 

COMMISSIONER: What prompted you to send this email, Councillor? Do you 

remember? 40 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. So I've sat through a fair few budgets, preparing them over 

the - over the years. The general process is - I remember, especially at the beginning, 

you'd be very excited because you have ideas and things that you want to 

implement - expenditure, so on and so forth. And then when you sit down for your 45 

budget - first budget briefing session, you would be, "Oh, great. Councillors, before 

you have your ideas, we're minus X number." What would then happen - you would 
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have a series of workshops, but in those workshops the - it's the staff who are coming 

back every time, and the numbers - is gradually getting better and better and better.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Is this over the entirety of your time in council or a particular 

period? 5 

 

MR MANNOUN: Well, pretty much always. No one has ever come to a workshop 

and said, "Great, everyone, you've got a balanced budget," or, "You have extra 

money, would you like to spend it?" That's - we've never started from that position. 

In this scenario, if I can just quickly go back, we agreed upon, in the first 10 

budget - the '22-'23 budget, the first that we prepared after the election was that we 

would have a three-year trajectory in a long-term financial plan to achieve a balanced 

budget. That's what we had all agreed upon. We agreed upon that at a workshop that 

was held at Warwick Farm, and I remember a certain councillor wasn't impressed 

with that because it was going to take three years and its alignment to different 15 

events, because there could have been a shorter path to get there, but that would have 

been more challenging things.  

 

So anyway, effectively, this is year 3. So in my mind, it's that we want to get to 

a - we will be at a balanced budget. When we had our first session, that - we were 20 

presented - I think it was a 20 mil-plus deficit. That was effectively a wish list of 

things from council staff. It was about basically waiting, and here we, I think - so in 

April - that every time we had one of those sessions, the money - the number would 

get smaller and smaller and smaller.  

 25 

At this point I felt that, okay, they're probably maximised or they're close to 

maximising where they could get to financially. So that's where I was like, "Okay. 

Well, now, if we're at this position, how do we then get to the balanced?" But this is 

where I guess I'm providing my input to say, "All right. You're at minus seven at the 

moment. What do these things look like?" And doing it too early - I don't believe was 30 

the right time to do it, because they had to go through their natural process of getting 

it down to a smaller number first.  

 

MS McDONALD: It led to the meeting, which I think we've described as the 

swearing meeting, on 16 April? 35 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: At that meeting, the information provided was that the budget 

was now in a surplus but a small surplus?  40 

 

MR MANNOUN: That was provided at the end of the meeting.  

 

MS McDONALD: You were told that at the meeting? 

 45 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: Now, after the swearing meeting, where you were told by 

Mr Ajaka to "shut the F up" -  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: - your immediate reaction to that was that you were not that 

upset. Is that fair enough? 

 

MR MANNOUN: My reaction was to de-escalate the situation.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: All right. To answer my question, after the meeting, after during 

it you were told to "shut the fuck up" - after - immediately after the meeting, you 

were not that upset about that?  

 

MR MANNOUN: No, I don't agree with that.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. You shared with Lauren Myers something from 

Facebook, which was a little kind of musical spin on "shut the fuck up", didn't you?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, and that was shared to me beforehand.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: And I suggest that forwarding that to Ms Myers indicates that 

immediately after the meeting you weren't that upset about it.  

 

MR MANNOUN: No. I was upset, in that - it was obviously extremely 

disrespectful. The meeting - it was - de-escalated the situation, the meeting 30 

continued. And what was more upsetting was the lack of apology.  

 

MS McDONALD: Well, we'll get to that. I'm working - immediately after the 

meeting.  

 35 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. I was - if - so if upset was a scale, I was upset.  

 

MS McDONALD: But you were able to joke about it? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  40 

 

MS McDONALD: And share with Lauren Myers this Facebook musical feature on 

"shut the fuck up"?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  45 
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MS McDONALD: Now, after the meeting and after sharing the funny musical item 

with - and you shared that also with Councillor Macnaught?  

 

MR MANNOUN: I think she shared it with me first.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: Right. And then you shared it with - or sent it to Lauren.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Over the next couple of days, is one of the matters that you 10 

became concerned about - was that, in your view, Mr Ajaka had not offered to 

apologise to you? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute. Over the days after the meeting, did 

Councillor Goodman act as a - like a form of conduit between Mr Ajaka and you? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: In which he was trying to arrange days or a time whereby 

Mr Ajaka could come and apologise to you? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: But ultimately that didn't end in some kind of meeting being 

arranged which was suitable to both of you? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: Now, you had a council meeting organised for 24 April? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: On the Monday there is information that is being distributed, I 35 

think from a USU Advocate email, which suggests that there are going to 

be - council employees are going to be losing their jobs?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: And suggesting that it could be in the amount of about 150? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: That was receiving some publicity, in that - I think there was 45 

a Ray Hadley interview with one of the organisers of the union? 
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MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And ultimately, another part of your concern about Mr Ajaka's 

conduct is on 22nd, 23rd and 24th you did not see any evidence of him contacting 

staff members at Liverpool City Council and informing them, "Don't be concerned 5 

about the amount of the 150 vacancies," something along the lines of that's not 

planned or that's not foreshadowed?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: So in a sense - I won't say appeasing, but at least trying to - if 

I can describe it as hose down concerns of the workforce that there might be 

a considerable number of jobs lost at the council?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: Excuse me just for a minute. And that - at the council meeting on 

24 April you moved from the council floor a mayoral minute?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: And the mayoral minute concerned a staffing matter? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: It was a mayoral minute that was not included in the agenda 

items or any reference to it in the agenda items? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: And it was a mayoral minute that all of the other 

councillors - I'm sorry, all of the councillors were not informed of the mayoral 

minute or its contents before you moved it on the floor of the council meeting? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: And can we bring up, please - excuse me for a minute. If we'd 

bring up LCC.002.004.0308. If we go through to page 19, this is one of the 

versions - well, this is the mayoral minute? 

 40 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And if we just go through it, at the beginning it refers back to the 

swearing meeting of 16 April.  

 45 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: You say:  

 

"The CEO was offered a number of opportunities by myself and other councillors to 

retract the statement and apologise, which he has refused, and myself and other 

councillors recommend that he consider taking leave to assist with the stress, which 5 

he has also refused." 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And then you say:  10 

 

"As a result of this occurrence myself and the Deputy Mayor are concerned for our 

safety and has caused us significant distress and anxiety." 

 

Then you refer to the Work Health and Safety Act. Then you refer to a meeting with 15 

an organiser from the union, and then you say:  

 

"This is completely unacceptable ... requires an immediate investigation. [And] to 

allow this investigation ... the CEO needs to be placed on leave until the 

investigation is completed." 20 

 

And then you set out clause 9.8 of the CEO's employment agreement, and you say:  

 

"The public seem to think that I will be moving a motion to fire the CEO but despite 

recent events, I have no intention of doing so."  25 

 

And then if you go across the page, you've got the recommendation which is: 

 

"[The] council exercises Clause 9.6 ... and grants him leave with pay until..."  

 30 

And then you've got some handwritten changes. But that was the mayoral minute 

that you put forward? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: A number of councillors did not know the content of the 

mayoral - or didn't know (a) that were you going to put forward a mayoral minute? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: Let alone the content of it? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, especially point 3.  

 

MS McDONALD: And then if we go to the minute, which is INQ.001.001.1099, 45 

page 10. Yes, please. If we have a look, you've got Recommendation and you've got: 
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"Exercise Clause 9.8 (special leave) ... until the matters raised in the Mayoral Minute 

are considered independently." 

 

Appoint Mr Breton as the acting CEO, then:  

 5 

"Investigate Liverpool City Council Workplace Health and Safety concerns..." 

 

And you refer to: 

 

"Issues raised and feedback provided by USU representatives with [the] Mayor and 10 

other Councillors..."  

 

The other councillors - on Tuesday, 23 April - they were only the councillors with 

affiliation to the Liberal Party?  

 15 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And you were meeting, I forget the institution, at some café 

somewhere in the Liverpool area?  

 20 

MR MANNOUN: Lilys café.  

 

MS McDONALD: That's right. And why were you having the meeting off-site with 

the Liberal councillors? 

 25 

MR MANNOUN: We would normally meet before the council meeting, as a team 

meeting. And like I said, we first - we were doing that as a - all councillors doing that 

until, let's say, September 2022, when that stopped. But myself and the Liberal 

councillors, as well as, from time to time - or most of the time, Councillor Karress 

Rhodes.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: She wasn't there on this day? 

 

MR MANNOUN: I don't remember.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: And was this a meeting to discuss what was going to occur at the 

council meeting on the next day? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, in the sense that councillors would raise any issues that they 

particularly had with an item on the agenda. A general catch-up.  40 

 

MS McDONALD: And at that meeting, did you tell those - the councillors who 

were in attendance your intention to draft the mayoral minute and pursue that? 

 

MR MANNOUN: This was Tuesday morning?  45 

 

MS McDONALD: And the meeting was on the Wednesday, yes.  
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MR MANNOUN: Yes, this was Tuesday morning. So Ray Hadley had made the 

comments - I'm now thinking whether - as we were driving to the meeting - and, 

sorry, just so I - your question about off-site, we were - it was a - 

 5 

MS McDONALD: No, no, no. I'm on to, at this meeting -  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: - did you discuss with the other councillors who appear to be 10 

primarily those affiliated with the Liberal Party, your intention to move on a mayoral 

minute dealing with Mr Ajaka's employment? 

 

MR MANNOUN: There was nothing drafted. There were discussions with respect 

to the events of the last week and what is the appropriate course of action.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. And in discussing the appropriate course of action, you 

were considering what was going to happen with Mr Ajaka's employment? For 

example, "Should we force him to go on leave"? 

 20 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Commissioner, is that an appropriate time? 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Councillor - 2 o'clock? I'm just going to say 2 o'clock. 25 

We'll take our lunch break now, Councillor. We'll resume at 2, if you wouldn't mind 

being back here just before then. Thank you.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Thank you, Commissioner.  

 30 

COMMISSIONER: I'll adjourn until 2. 

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 1.06 PM  

 

<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 2.10 PM  35 

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun, I think we were up to 23 April, so the day before 

the council meeting. You were at Lilys with at least the other councillors affiliated 

with the Liberal Party, and your evidence was that you were discussing events. And 

as part of that, were you discussing what to do with Mr Ajaka? As in, what to do 40 

with his employment.  

 

MR MANNOUN: As one of the items, yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And at that meeting, were you looking at possible options? For 45 

example, terminating his employment or what ultimately occurred with him going on 

leave? Were you looking at things like that? 



 

 

 

 

LCC Inquiry – 24.11.2025 P-3675  Transcript by Law In Order 

 

 

 

MR MANNOUN: No to termination, yes to going on leave.  

 

MS McDONALD: And when - we'll get to the meeting that was held on 24 April 

shortly, but as is the requirement, I think, under the Local Government Act, when 5 

you are proposing or discussing staff matters at a council meeting you've got to go 

into closed session?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: And that reflects that you don't want - or it's not appropriate for 

staff matters dealing with employment of personnel to be broadcast to the public?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: And also to other members of the staff at the council who are not 

directly resolved, for example, with human resources.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, with a proviso that usually EA and those around the mayor's 

office tend to have an idea of what's happening.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: Well, who are the people in April 2024 who were around the 

mayor's office? You've referred to your EA. You had two - did you have two EAs at 

that time?  

 25 

MR MANNOUN: I've never had two EAs.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. So you've got an EA.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. 30 

 

MS McDONALD: And who else?  

 

MR MANNOUN: The EA does get assistance from other - I think from Councillor 

Support.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: All right.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Ms Boustani.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: Why was Ms Boustani around the mayor's office?  

 

MR MANNOUN: According to her position description and under the civic and 

expenses and payments facilitates - policy, she would fulfil the functions within that 

policy and was made available to me by the CEO.  45 

 

MS McDONALD: Was that - being made available to you, was that in writing?  
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MR MANNOUN: In writing to me?  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes, some kind of acknowledgement in writing within the 

records of the council that she was being made available to you.  5 

 

MR MANNOUN: I don't recall that. I'd have to check my emails if -  

 

MS McDONALD: When was she made available to you? 

 10 

MR MANNOUN: Well, her predecessor, if I go back to the first -  

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Mallard was in the position.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Mr Mallard was. 15 

 

MS McDONALD: In - I think for a couple of months in 2023.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. And before Mr Mallard there was Mimi Curran.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: Before Mr Mallard?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay.  25 

 

MR MANNOUN: Because council had advertised for the position twice. The first 

time, I believe, was roughly around August. 

 

MS McDONALD: There was a time in 2022 when it was advertised?  30 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. August '22 it was advertised. There was no successful 

candidates. I think a second process then happened in '22 - at the end of '22. The 

job - the position was offered to somebody, and because of the length it had taken 

they had accepted another position elsewhere.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

MR MANNOUN: And I think in - around that time, Mr Ajaka appointed Mimi 

Curran for a short period.  40 

  

MS McDONALD: Yes. Then Mr Mallard was appointed on a direct appointment, 

temporary contract?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  45 
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MS McDONALD: And then when he was successful with being appointed director 

of City Futures, Ms Boustani was appointed directly on a temporary contract?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: Now, if - I'll have to double-check the first part of your 

chronology, but when were you told that Ms - that Ms Boustani was available to 

you? 

 

MR MANNOUN: I was told that the senior adviser position would be made 10 

available to me, as I had raised the civic and expenses and facilities policy, which 

outlined assistance that would be provided to the mayor. One is clearly about a PA 

and then the other one was about secretarial research, public relations things, and I 

was - my conversation was, "Well, what do we" - "how are you going to provide that 

service?" and mentioned that I had a senior adviser prior to that, and they said, well, 15 

that's a position that can be reinstated and that could provide those - assistance to 

you. So I guess it wasn't specifically Ms Boustani, it was this position many months 

before Ms Boustani started.  

 

MS McDONALD: When did you raise it?  20 

 

MR MANNOUN: Probably very, very early on, because I know, once again, the 

position did exist in my term - 

 

MS McDONALD: No, that's all right. If you can just concentrate.  25 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: You were elected in December 2021.  

 30 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: You're saying after your election you raised this question about 

you need assistance or you would like assistance. So roughly after your election in 

December 2021, when did you raise it?  35 

 

MR MANNOUN: It would have been immediately in January, in that - who will 

perform the functions or who will provide the assistance as per the policy.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. What did you make that inquiry of? Who did you ask? 40 

 

MR MANNOUN: I think I raised it with Mr Jackson at the time, as well as - I'm just 

trying to think - and I think Mr Georgakis, who was the manager of executive 

services, and Ms Myers.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: Did - 
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MR MANNOUN: And, sorry, it could have been, I think, as well, Mr Hampouris, 

who was acting - 

 

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, the -  

 5 

MR MANNOUN: Mr Hampouris, who was acting director of Corporate Services at 

that time, which is where I think executive services was.  

 

MS McDONALD: Did you receive a response in writing from any of those people? 

 10 

MR MANNOUN: Not that I can recall.  

 

COMMISSIONER: What do you mean by available to you - that this position 

would be available to you? 

 15 

MR MANNOUN: So someone that I could speak to, perform those functions that 

are outlined within that - within the policy, the civic and expenses policy.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Just remind me of the functions? 

 20 

MR MANNOUN: Research - research, public relations assistance. I think it's 

policy - again, those two off the top of my head, I can - I mentioned another one 

a moment ago. I forgot which one I said, but -  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Thank you.  25 

 

MR MANNOUN: Ms - Counsel, when I finished - I said that position existed, and 

then when you look at the way that Dr Jackson had his structure - he had an Office of 

the CEO and then he had, effectively, that position, but it - and it was a - but there 

were people reporting to that position. So I forget exactly what it was called but there 30 

was three direct reports to it.  

 

COMMISSIONER: And this was a resource to be available to you as mayor as 

opposed to the wider governing body? 

 35 

MR MANNOUN: The - yes, because I don't think the policy covered the civic and 

expenses policy, it covered the actual councillors.  

 

MS McDONALD: So your evidence is it was a position that was only available to 

you? 40 

 

MR MANNOUN: From the elected officials, yes. But it was a - it was to the CEO as 

well.  

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry, when you say it was from the CEO as well, what do you 45 

mean by that?  
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MR MANNOUN: To the CEO. Like, available to myself as an elected official - out 

of the 11 only, but to myself and the CEO.  

 

MS McDONALD: And you don't recall this right of providing you with certain 

services was ever confirmed in writing? 5 

 

MR MANNOUN: I would have to check my emails, but I guess for me it was 

confirmed within the policy.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, at the meeting at the coffee shop, Ms Boustani was 10 

present? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: So Ms Boustani, she was present for the whole meeting? 15 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: So she would be hearing and party to conversations about the 

future of Mr Ajaka's employment? 20 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And you thought that was appropriate? 

 25 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And why did you think it was appropriate? 

 

MR MANNOUN: This - in these situations, there becomes a - I guess a competing 30 

interest - conflict probably is a better word, in regards to this issue of - you know, 

you - there's a management issue with the CEO, and I guess like with Eddie Jackson, 

in order to get the support needed we had to go to the - at that point the general 

counsel to help draft the motion. And so it's like, well, should they be aware of it 

because they report to the CEO? And I think the same with Lauren Myers - the 35 

executive assistant has that challenge as well.  

 

MS McDONALD: Well, that's inevitable with an executive assistant. But with Ms 

Boustani, the decision about what to do with Mr Ajaka, that was a decision that you 

were discussing with your fellow councillors.  40 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: As members of the governing body.  

 45 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: At that point, depending on what you decided, you might - or 

what you wanted to do, you might be required to, for example, approach general 

counsel and get some advice? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: You might be - you might even have to seek outside legal 

advice?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: But you've got an appropriate officer within council, the general 

counsel, who could provide you with that advice.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. So the nature of the senior adviser position is - it's 15 

obviously - it's more senior than the executive assistant.  

 

MS McDONALD: It's more what?  

 

MR MANNOUN: More senior than the executive assistant - 20 

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

MR MANNOUN: - with regards to the assistance that it provides to the mayor. And 

therefore, that same confidentiality that - and confidential information that flows 25 

through the mayor's office, they would - they are usually aware of it, if not even 

potentially earlier.  

 

MS McDONALD: So your evidence is that Ms Boustani was actually a member of 

the mayor's office? 30 

 

MR MANNOUN: She provided support to it, yes, and there's no -  

 

MS McDONALD: So that's your evidence? She was a member of the mayoral 

office? 35 

 

MS RICHARDSON: I object to that question. That was not the evidence. Happy to 

do this in the absence of the witness.  

 

MS McDONALD: I thought he just answered she was a member of the mayoral 40 

office.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Councillor, would you just mind stepping outside for 

a moment? This happens from time to time. It's no reflection on you, so no need to 

worry about it. Thank you.  45 

 

<WITNESS WITHDREW  
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MS RICHARDSON: The mayor has given evidence that his understanding was that 

Ms Boustani was - it was part of her role to provide support to any of the elected 

councillors, which - he's made clear he's one among 11 - and also to provide support 

to the CEO. So my learned friend, in my submission, is perhaps inadvertently 5 

mischaracterising his evidence to suggest that he thought that she was only providing 

her services to his office, which is inconsistent with the evidence he's already given. 

(Indistinct). 

 

MS McDONALD: I thought his evidence was that with this new policy that we just 10 

heard of -  

 

COMMISSIONER: I might be misunderstanding, but I thought I asked him 

whether this was a resource available to him or the other councillors, and the 

evidence was it was to him and the CEO.  15 

 

MS RICHARDSON: I'm sorry, perhaps it should be clarified. I hadn't understood 

him to talk about the councillors, and he said something like "one of 11 councillors".  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. Well, to ensure we're not all at cross-purposes, we 20 

can have the witness back and have it clarified, but do you have a different note? 

 

MS RICHARDSON: Pardon?  

 

COMMISSIONER: Do you have a different note?  25 

 

MS RICHARDSON: I'm sorry, I didn't hear what you said.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I'm sorry. I had thought that, in answer to my question, the 

councillor had said that he considered it a resource available to him and to the CEO 30 

but not to the other members of the governing body.  

 

MS McDONALD: Our note (crosstalk).  

 

COMMISSIONER: Just hang on. Just hang on. 35 

 

MS RICHARDSON: I may have misheard it.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Just hang on, Ms - one at a time.  

 40 

MS RICHARDSON: Sorry.  

 

COMMISSIONER: You're all right, Ms Richardson.  

 

MS RICHARDSON: I may have misheard it. My junior's assisting me with a note. 45 

It's certainly that it was, at the very least, the CEO and the mayor. 
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COMMISSIONER: Yes. All right. Well, let's just clear it up so there's no 

confusion, because ultimately clarity will assist me. So if we'd have the councillor 

back. Thanks, Ms Palmer.  

 

<NED MANNOUN, ON FORMER OATH  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: Thanks, Councillor.  

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun, the role of senior adviser was available, if you 

look at the governing body, to you but not the other councillors? 10 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And also to the CEO? 

 15 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. I'm just wondering, is it possible we can bring up the civic 

and expenses facilities policy?  

 

MS McDONALD: Not at the moment. We'll come back to that. All right. So I just 

want to take you back to the topic that we're discussing, which is Mr Ajaka's 20 

employment. And then if we go to - sorry. We then have the council meeting that 

occurs on 24 April.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: And I think I took you to - you had a mayoral minute.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Dealing with - I'm sorry. Dealing with a couple of matters but 30 

including, and I'm putting it broadly, Mr Ajaka's employment? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And ultimately, a determination was made by council that - and 35 

if we can bring up the minutes, INQ.001.001.1099. And we've got:  

 

"Exercise Clause 9.8 (special leave) of the CEO's employment agreement and grant 

leave with pay until the matters raised in the mayoral minute are considered 

independently." 40 

 

Now, Mr Ajaka didn't want to go on leave? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: Obviously Mr Ajaka, to your knowledge, wanted to keep his 

contract? He wanted to remain the CEO of the council? 
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MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Before this mayoral minute was raised by you at the council 

meeting, had you had a discussion with Mr Ajaka about what you'd proposed to put 5 

forward in the mayoral minute? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Not directly, no.  

 

MS McDONALD: And when you say "not directly", did you raise it with somebody 10 

else? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Who was that? 15 

 

MR MANNOUN: Councillor Goodman.  

 

MS McDONALD: Councillor? 

 20 

MR MANNOUN: Councillor Goodman.  

 

MS McDONALD: And using Councillor Goodman as a conduit, did you ask him to 

raise something with Mr Ajaka? 

 25 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And what was that? 

 

MR MANNOUN: There were - what do you call it - sort of escalated as time went 30 

on. So for example - I think it was the - the meeting in question was on a Tuesday.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Sorry, Councillor, which meeting? The 24th -  

 

MR MANNOUN: The swearing meeting.  35 

 

COMMISSIONER: Swearing meeting?  

 

MS McDONALD: The swearing meeting.  

 40 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.  

 

MR MANNOUN: And if I could just quickly mention that the day before that 

meeting was the day that the bishop, Mar Mari, in Fairfield was stabbed. And there 

was a lot happening on Monday night.  45 

 

MS McDONALD: But, sorry - 
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MR MANNOUN: It gets - it's relevant, if I can - so what happened is on - and we 

were - myself, councillors from Fairfield were up all night on the phones with 

community members, with police, trying to - I won't say calm the situation 

down - make sure the situation did not escalate. On Tuesday, after that meeting, I 5 

was called to a meeting with the Assyrian community, where they had asked me to 

organise - I guess they entrusted me to organise a roundtable discussion with 

members of the Muslim community and the Assyrian community. That then 

happened on the Thursday. 

 10 

Once we got to the weekend - on the Saturday is, I guess, when I expected a phone 

call from Mr Ajaka to say let's catch up, let's have a cup of coffee. That didn't - that 

didn't happen. On Sunday, relating directly to your question, is when the first, 

I guess, request from - that was made from Councillor Goodman to me - was to 

organise - 15 

 

MS McDONALD: Can we get to when you raised through Councillor Goodman 

something about leave for Mr Ajaka's contract of employment?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Yes. So Sunday was - through Mr Goodman, "Let's sit down 20 

and have a coffee today, me, you and Ned." His response was he didn't 

have - Mr Ajaka's response was he didn't have time for that.  

 

MS McDONALD: So when did he raise - 

 25 

MR MANNOUN: On Monday -  

 

MS McDONALD: - through Councillor Goodman - 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: - the question of either leave or Mr Ajaka's contract of 

employment? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. So I became aware of the provision of special leave on 35 

Sunday night, because at that point, to me, is where the situation probably reached 

the tipping point. So Monday was when - I think, yes, Monday.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. How did you become aware of the provision of special 

leave? 40 

 

MR MANNOUN: I was at a function in Liverpool on Sunday night, and I was very 

disgruntled with the situation.  

 

MS McDONALD: Would you tell me how you became aware? 45 

 

MR MANNOUN: I read the contract whilst I was at the function.  
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MS McDONALD: So you looked up the - actually Mr Ajaka's contract or the 

standard contract for general managers, CEOs, on the website of probably the OLG? 

 

MR MANNOUN: I'm fairly certain the general one.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: And you read the contract?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: And you saw clause 9.8? 

 

MR MANNOUN: The clause with the special leave. I'm not sure if it's 9.8. Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: So your answer to my question is you became aware of the 15 

clause or the provision dealing with special leave in the contract when you read the 

contract on the Sunday night? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: Right. And clause 9.8 is the clause that - I think it's - yes, it says 

it - in the motion that was passed by the council that - the clause that you're relying 

upon.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: And if we just bring up the contract of employment, 

LCC.002.004.0069. Yes, sorry. Standard contract of employment for general 

managers of local councils in New South Wales. And if we go through to page 14, 

under 9.8, special leave:  30 

 

"Council may grant special leave with or without pay to the employee for a period as 

determined by council to cover any specific matter approved by council." 

 

And that's a clause that you read on - or looked at on the Sunday night? 35 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And that's the clause that's referred to in the motion? 

 40 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: From identifying in the contract clause 9.8, did you seek any 

advice from, for example, the general counsel about that clause and its operation? 

 45 

MR MANNOUN: At some point in time I received advice from Sparke Helmore.  
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MS McDONALD: Okay. 

 

MR MANNOUN: I just don't recall if it was prior to the council meeting on the 

Wednesday.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: Okay.  

 

MR MANNOUN: And in that - 

  

MS McDONALD: You can't recall whether -  10 

  

MR MANNOUN: I can't recall. And in that - the general counsel as well. I can't 

recall whether I did or did not.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. But before the meeting on the Wednesday, can you 15 

recall whether you sought and received advice from the general counsel? 

 

MR MANNOUN: No, I can't.  

 

MS McDONALD: Can you recall whether you sought and received advice from 20 

Sparke Helmore? 

 

MR MANNOUN: When?  

 

MS McDONALD: No, no, no. Listen to my question. Before the council meeting on 25 

the Wednesday, can you recall did you seek and receive advice from Sparke 

Helmore? 

 

MR MANNOUN: I don't recall.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: All right. Your recollection is at some time you did receive 

advice from Sparke Helmore? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: And I'm going to put it broadly, it's that advice concerned 

Mr Ajaka's employment? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: But you are uncertain as to whether it was received before the 

council meeting on the Wednesday or after? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: Clause 9.8 allows - I'm sorry, withdraw that. Permits the council 

to grant special leave with or without pay to an employee for a period to cover any 
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specific matter approved by council. Have you come across, in your role as a mayor, 

that type of provision in a contract of employment before? 

 

MR MANNOUN: The only contract that we deal with is the CEO's - no, not 

necessarily.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. What I was going to - what I'll suggest to you is that 

generally that clause is where the employee seeks special leave, and it empowers the 

council to grant special leave, with or without pay, for a particular period, et cetera. 

Have you come across it in those circumstances? 10 

 

MS RICHARDSON: I object to the question. What's the basis that generally 

a particular contractual clause is interpreted in that way? 

 

COMMISSIONER: I think the substance is okay. Perhaps how it is prefaced is - 15 

 

MS McDONALD: Have you come across - I'm sorry, Commissioner.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I reject that question in that form.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: Have you come across that clause operating in circumstances 

where an employee seeks special leave, and the council - and then under this clause, 

the council can grant the special leave, with or without pay, for a certain period? 

Have you come across it operating in those circumstances? 

 25 

MR MANNOUN: Prior to this?  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 

MR MANNOUN: No.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: Have you come across it, before this, in circumstances where the 

council is forcing the employee to go on special leave? 

 

MR MANNOUN: No.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: When you were - on the Sunday night, when you looked at the 

contract of employment and identified clause 9.8 - when you saw or identified that 

clause, did you then start thinking that that may be a way to get Mr Ajaka on special 

leave? 40 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Over the next two days, leading up to the council meeting on the 

Wednesday, did you discuss your idea of using clause 9.8 with any other 45 

councillors?  
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MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Which councillors? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Ammoun, Hadid, Macnaught, Goodman, and Councillor Rhodes, 5 

I think.  

 

MS McDONALD: Are you sure about Councillor Rhodes? You just seemed a little 

bit hesitant in your answer.  

 10 

MR MANNOUN: No, I'm not exactly sure.  

 

MS McDONALD: But definitely with the other councillors affiliated with the 

Liberal Party? 

 15 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Did you discuss it with your senior adviser? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: Who else - and, sorry, I'll come back. Amongst the governing 

body, you didn't mention it to any of the - the other independent councillor or any of 

the other councillors affiliated with the Labor Party? 

 25 

MR MANNOUN: No.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Is there any reason why not? 

 

MR MANNOUN: There - there probably wasn't - there was not much discussion 30 

regarding, I guess, matters before council meetings with the - with the Labor 

councillors after what happened in September '22.  

 

COMMISSIONER: So after that period, do I take it, generally - there might be 

exceptions, but generally these sort of discussions about issues coming up at 35 

meetings beforehand weren't occurring with the councillors affiliated with the Labor 

Party? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 40 

COMMISSIONER: And what about Councillor Harle? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Councillor Harle? 

 

COMMISSIONER: Harle.  45 
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MR MANNOUN: More regular than the Labor Party, but not as regular as with 

Councillor Rhodes.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Is there any reason why that was? 

 5 

MR MANNOUN: The - there was no - I never really reached out to Councillor 

Harle, I guess, nor did he reach out to me. So I guess, yes, there's nothing proactive 

from my point to say, "Councillor Harle, what do you think of this?" And vice versa, 

Councillor Harle wouldn't really call me and say, "Hey, Ned, let's have cup of 

coffee," or, "Let's have a chat. Can we discuss my motion that" - for example, his 10 

motion that he wants to put forward. So there wasn't - there was not much of that 

going on.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Do you think it assists the functioning of a governing body if 

that sort of thing does happen across the political spectrum? 15 

 

MR MANNOUN: I would - would it assist? Yes. But the nature of politics I don't 

believe allows for that, and even - even though we tried - and that was my reason 

why I reached out to all 11 for a good nine months - when the trust was betrayed, 

ultimately, that no longer was feasible, because there's an innate sense - we see it 20 

obviously in the Parliament, where you're assembled as a government and an 

opposition, and then most of the time they're just arguing against each other - whilst 

Local Government doesn't recognise that distinction, distinction does exist and it gets 

down to, I would say, the interpersonal skills of the councillors at the time - how 

much they actually want to work together.  25 

 

COMMISSIONER: Would you agree with the proposition that ideally they should 

all be working together in that way? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. It just proposes challenges at a time when - for example, if 30 

there was a general view that I should run everything past all 11, all - or the other 10 

councillors, knowing that there are some, say, left-leaning councillors that 

necessarily wouldn't like this proposition, but the majority - I believe the majority of 

council would - you know, before you've had a chance - you know, you're reading 

about it in the media before you've had a chance to explain or able to get it through 35 

and - yes, that kind of - I guess goes away. So I think there's no other level of 

government that operates like that, but ideally yes.  

 

If it was - we tried it and it was working well. It was working well until - I had no 

reason - if I go back to the beginning of the term, there was no reason to have all 40 

people on side, other than a sense of goodwill, and I say that and - no reason, in that 

the nature of politics - ultimately, the goal is to get a majority of the governing body 

to agree, and we had - there was a - we had a good working relationship with 

Councillor Rhodes, and it's - we - I remember she made comments at times, saying, 

"Well, why" - "You don't need them. You don't need to compromise with them." 45 

And I was like, "Well, if it's only minor things, then why shouldn't we all go 

together?"  
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MS McDONALD: But - we'll come back to that. I'll just bring up something 

that - another document. INQ.085.001.0001. Yes, please. That's the council agenda 

for 29 October of this year. And if we go through to page 132, this is a question with 

notice. And if we can move down a little bit:  5 

 

"Was legal advice sought, obtained or provided to councillors in relation to the 

mayoral minute number 5 at the 24 April 2024 council meeting? If not, why not?" 

 

And the response provided by Corporate Services was:  10 

 

"No, advice was not requested, and notice is not required for mayoral minutes." 

 

I'm interested more in the question of the legal advice. As it says, legal advice was 

not requested or provided. Given that answer, does that assist you with your evidence 15 

of where you weren't quite sure about some kind of advice from Sparke Helmore? 

That that would suggest that it must have been obtained after the meeting of 24 

April? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: And in circumstances - sorry, I'll start again. So you can recall an 

advice coming from Sparke Helmore? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: All right. And the circumstances where advice is provided, you 

don't seek the advice yourself. The advice would be sought by general counsel or the 

CEO? 

 30 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Because I assume the advice is actually being provided to 

council? Like, it's not particular advice to you.  

 35 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: So any more details about this Sparke Helmore advice, the 

council will be able to assist? 

 40 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, the 24 April meeting - as we've seen, you moved 

a mayoral minute. That mayoral minute was not included in the agenda papers?  

 45 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: And it was not provided to all the councillors before the 

meeting? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: It was not provided to Mr Ajaka before the meeting? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: You agree that it wasn't? 10 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, it wasn't.  

 

MS RICHARDSON: If my learned friend is using negative propositions and the 

witness is answering accurately, yes.  15 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, I understood the answers.  

 

MS McDONALD: And other than your evidence of raising special leave via 

Councillor Goodman with Mr Ajaka, you never discussed with him before the 20 

meeting on the 24th what you proposed in this mayoral minute? 

 

MR MANNOUN: With - sorry, to Councillor Goodman or Mr Ajaka?  

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Ajaka directly.  25 

 

MR MANNOUN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: So is your understanding the first time Mr Ajaka heard that he 

was going on special leave was at the meeting of the 24th, when the councillors 30 

returned from a closed session and there was an announcement of what was resolved 

in the closed session?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Can you ask that again, please?  

 35 

MS McDONALD: The first time - your understanding would be that the first time 

Mr Ajaka heard that he was going on special leave was at the meeting of 24 April? 

 

MR MANNOUN: In essence, yes, because a resolution can only - the action can 

only happen after a resolution - that it's been put to council. So he - 40 

 

MS McDONALD: So he heard - you went into closed session?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: Council went into closed session - 
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MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: - to discuss a staff matter?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: Then you came out -  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: - of closed session?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And the resolution, which included Mr Ajaka going to special 15 

leave, was then announced at the council? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. I guess the point I was getting at - there's no way that he 

could be notified before the resolution.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: Well, you could have notified him that, "This is what I'm 

proposing."  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: And that didn't occur? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Not through me, but through Councillor Goodman.  

 

MS McDONALD: Well, we've got Councillor Goodman acting as a conduit and 30 

you've given that evidence. I'm talking about Mr Ajaka, who attended this meeting.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: He was sitting next to you -  35 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: - at the beginning of the meeting? 

 40 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And you never informed him that the proposal was that he go on 

special leave? 

 45 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: And part of the proposal as well was that there would be an 

investigation into certain events? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: And one of the aspect of an investigation was primarily into the 

circumstances of the swearing meeting? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: And as you understand - sorry, Mr Breton then became the 

acting CEO? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: And he engaged - I think it's Weir & Associates to undertake an 

investigation? 

 

MR MANNOUN: I think so, yes.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: Right. Well, you were interviewed by Weir.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: So you knew that they were undertaking an investigation which 25 

was going to look at the swearing meeting? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And then also looked at some events post the swearing meeting?  30 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. I'm just not exactly sure if it was Weir or not. I'm not 

disputing it, I'm just -  

 

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute.  35 

 

MR MANNOUN: I think I remember the gentleman's name.  

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Harvey? 

 40 

MR MANNOUN: That's the one. Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Excuse me just for a minute.  

 

MR MANNOUN: If he's from Weir, I'm - I accept the term Weir. 45 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. 
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COMMISSIONER: I think it's uncontroversial, isn't it?  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes.  

 5 

COMMISSIONER: You can accept that it's Weir. There's - I've heard evidence that 

it is Weir, so - 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 10 

COMMISSIONER: - you can take it from me.  

 

MS McDONALD: And that was part of the resolution passed by council - that this 

investigation would take place; correct? 

 15 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And that there would then be a reporting back to council about 

the findings of Weir? 

 20 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, your understanding is that the Weir company undertook 

this investigation during May? 

 25 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And towards the end of May - on 27 May, Weir handed down an 

interim fact-finding report? 

 30 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And if we can bring up, please, LCC.008.001.0023. Yes. Sorry. 

You can see there Interim Fact-finding Report?  

 35 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And if we move down the first page, we've got a date - if we go 

back to the first page, we've got a date of 27 May 2024.  

 40 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And if we just jump to page 5, the recommendations, Mr Harvey 

recommends that council waits for the outcome of the final fact-finding report?  

 45 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: Now, the May meeting of council is two days later?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: 29 May?  5 

 

MR MANNOUN: 29th?  

 

MS McDONALD: 29 May.  

 10 

MR MANNOUN: I don't remember the exact date.  

 

MS McDONALD: Do you recall - were you provided with a copy of this interim 

fact-finding report before the meeting of 29 May? 

 15 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: You were provided a copy by the acting chief executive officer? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: And it's only really about three pages in total. Did you read it? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 25 

MS McDONALD: So going into the meeting of 29 May, you knew that there was an 

interim fact-finding report with a recommendation, "Council, wait until you get the 

final fact-finding report"? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: At the meeting of 29 May 2024, you moved on another mayoral 

minute? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  35 

 

MS McDONALD: And this mayoral minute considered the employment of 

Mr Ajaka? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  40 

 

MS McDONALD: This mayoral minute was introduced and moved on the floor of 

the council? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  45 

 

MS McDONALD: Did the Liberal-affiliated councillors see it beforehand? 
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MR MANNOUN: I don't recall.  

 

MS McDONALD: Did the Labor-affiliated councillors see it beforehand? 

 5 

MR MANNOUN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: Did independent Councillor Harle see it? 

 

MR MANNOUN: No.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: Councillor Rhodes, is she in the same position as the 

Liberal-affiliated councillors? You're not quite sure whether they saw it 

beforehand - or whether she saw it beforehand, sorry? 

 15 

MR MANNOUN: So is that two questions?  

 

MS McDONALD: Well, you've given evidence that you couldn't quite remember 

whether the council-affiliated councillors had seen it.  

 20 

COMMISSIONER: The Liberal-affiliated councillors. 

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry, Liberal - well, start again. Sorry. Your evidence was 

you're not sure whether the Liberal-affiliated councillors had seen the mayoral 

minute before you presented it at the council meeting.  25 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. So - yes. So Councillor Rhodes just - Councillor Rhodes 

was not part of that group I wasn't sure. I'm fairly certain that, like the Labor Party 

and the - Councillor Harle - that she had not seen it as well.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: All right. Excuse me for a minute. If we can bring up, please, 

OLG.001.001.1061. This is a copy of your mayoral minute. If we keep on moving 

down the page, you can see the date, 29 May. There's a reference to the 24 April 

resolution. See that? 

 35 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And then if we keep on going, you state:  

 

"In addition to the CEO's actions during the meeting of 16 April ... his actions and 40 

inactions in advance of that meeting and which followed the meeting are of 

concern." 

 

And then you say:  

 45 

"Upon consideration as a whole, it is appropriate that Mr Ajaka be dismissed from 

his role as CEO." 
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And then you go on and refer to the contract of employment, which basically, as it 

says, provides for summary dismissal.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: See that? And you say:  

 

"For the reasons set out in the letter at Attachment A it is appropriate to exercise the 

right to terminate summarily." 10 

 

And if we go across to page 3, this is attachment A, which appears to be the draft 

letter to Mr Ajaka? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: If we just continue down, you've got:  

 

"Since that time, Council has given consideration to several instances of 

unsatisfactory conduct on your part."  20 

 

And the first dot point is the failure at the meeting on 12 April to provide the 

financial modelling information which had been requested.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: Then you've got the next dot point, the swearing meeting - or the 

statement of "shut the F up".  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: And then an assertion that: 

 

"Your conduct caused the Mayor and Deputy Mayor significant distress and anxiety 

to become concerned for their safety." 35 

 

Then the next dot point:  

 

"On 22 April ... you met with representatives of the USU. [And] immediately 

following the meeting, the USU commenced making accusations to the effect..." 40 

 

Of the loss of the 150 staff members. Then the next dot point, if we move down, it's 

asserted:  

 

"It is apparent from the timing of the accusations that the union's concerns about 45 

security of employment arose from the meeting with you [and then] your lack of 
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action to both correct this misstatement and to reassure staff and ratepayers that the 

accusations were untrue." 

 

See that? 

 5 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: So you were focusing there on the failure to correct - I'm sorry, 

correct and reassure? 

 10 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Then across the page, you've got a number of dot points, 

including the union members rallying, the statement that Mr Ajaka said, he "couldn't 

be more proud of what you're doing". And then the final dot point:  15 

 

"On 24 April ... you declined to adhere to a reasonable request regarding seating 

arrangements..." 

 

Correct? 20 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And if we go down the page, it asserts that:  

 25 

"The council considers that the unsatisfactory conduct set out above amounts to 

insubordination in the discharge of your duties and functions under your employment 

contract ... serious and wilful disobedience..."  

 

Et cetera. And it culminates with - basically, you were summarily terminating the 30 

employment of Mr Ajaka. Correct? 

 

MR MANNOUN: So I'm just reading the part that - 

 

MS McDONALD: If you keep on going, you can see in the final paragraph. Can 35 

you see that? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Sorry, I'm just - give me a moment, please. Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Who drafted this draft letter? 40 

 

MR MANNOUN: Sparke Helmore.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Does that suggest that the advice you received from 

Sparke Helmore was in the lead-up to the meeting of 29 May? 45 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: At the time that this mayoral minute was put before the council, 

you had had no conversation, you had not - sorry, start again. You had not discussed 

with Mr Ajaka that you were going to seek the summary termination of his 

employment? 5 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: That's correct? 

 10 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: You had not given him an opportunity to respond to a number of 

the allegations made in this attachment A, the contract - the letter? 

 15 

MS RICHARDSON: Well, I object to that question. (Indistinct).  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Councillor, do you mind stepping outside again? Thank 

you.  

 20 

<WITNESS WITHDREW  

 

MS RICHARDSON: The difficulty with this question is that it's - seems to be 

premised on the basis that Mr Mannoun is the only person that might give any type 

of heads up or opportunity to respond to Mr Ajaka, when, in fact, the Weir 25 

investigation process had traversed a significant number of these issues with 

Mr Ajaka. And so when - although my learned friend didn't go into this in any detail, 

it's plain that the scope of the Weir investigation was not just about the "shut the fuck 

up" meeting. It was much broader than that.  

 30 

And in Mr Harvey's emails to Mr Ajaka prior to his interview with him, which I've 

got all of the document reference numbers for - makes clear that he's going into 

various other matters, and tells Ajaka in advance, "These are the things I'm 

inquiring" - "I will be talking to you about in your formal interview," which includes 

the origin or the sources of this information with the USU, the fact that he had not 35 

specifically - had not apologised. Going back a step, he had not apologised to the 

mayor about the "shut the fuck up" meeting, that he may have exacerbated tensions 

with the mayor by not clarifying or efficiently communicating with the union or staff 

that the reported planned job losses were not correct, spoken to others about the 16 

April meeting, acted in a manner that the mayor felt was insubordinate, and so on. 40 

 

So when one tracks through the things that are in the termination letter, 

overwhelmingly they're lining up with the scope of the Weir investigation 

out - through which Mr Ajaka was given considerable fairness, in the sense of an 

opportunity to give his version of events. May it please the -  45 
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MS McDONALD: I was asking some questions about Mr Mannoun. I was then 

going to move to other people.  

 

COMMISSIONER: I think, to make it clear to the witness and clear whatever metes 

and bounds this evidence will have for me - there's no doubt that the mayor has 5 

a particular function in managing the performance of the general manager. Perhaps 

make clear to him that the questions are being posed in his role as mayor - did he do 

certain things, which will go as far as it goes. And there are other processes that I'm 

aware about, but I think that would assist me in putting some parameters around the 

extent of this evidence. So I'll allow the topic to be explored on that basis, and we'll 10 

have the councillor back.  

 

 

MS RICHARDSON: I think Mr Mannoun just took the opportunity for a bathroom 

break.  15 

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes, there's no trouble. 

 

MS McDONALD: As long as we can just open the door. 

 20 

MS RICHARDSON: He's back.  

 

<NED MANNOUN, ON FORMER OATH  

 

COMMISSIONER: Thank you, Councillor.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun, at the moment I'm asking you, as the mayor and 

the person who moved this mayoral minute at the council meeting on 29 May, as to 

whether you had put Mr Ajaka on notice that you were going to seek the summary 

termination of his employment?  30 

 

MR MANNOUN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: In the lead-up - and, sorry, withdraw that. Can you recall when 

you determined that you would draft and press this mayoral minute? 35 

 

MR MANNOUN: What do you mean by "press"?  

 

MS McDONALD: Well, raise it at a council meeting.  

 40 

MR MANNOUN: Part - the thinking started to solidify probably a few days after the 

protest at the council and when, I guess, a lot - a lot happened.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. So a few days after, what was it, 26 April? 

 45 

COMMISSIONER: (Indistinct), I think.  
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MR MANNOUN: Yes, so -  

 

COMMISSIONER: 24th. 

 

MS McDONALD: 24th.  5 

 

MR MANNOUN: 24. So there's the - 

 

MS McDONALD: A few days after the 24th.  

 10 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. So 23rd, the Ray Hadley interview. The 24th, the protest. 

And then when that subsided and we were able to digest what had just happened, 

that's when discussions, I guess, started happening.  

 

MS McDONALD: And when you say "discussions", discussions between whom? 15 

 

MR MANNOUN: Myself and my Liberal councillor colleagues.  

 

MS McDONALD: And of course, many of the issues that are raised in this draft 

letter were matters that were being explored by the Weir investigator?  20 

  

MR MANNOUN: Not the main one.  

 

MS McDONALD: No. Well, answer my question, which was it's your 

understanding that many of the factors or issues raised in this letter were being 25 

considered by the Weir investigator?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Some were, yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Is there one in particular which you say wasn't being considered 30 

by the Weir investigator?  

 

MR MANNOUN: If you can just scroll up?  

 

MS McDONALD: Sorry, is that what you're saying?  35 

 

MS RICHARDSON: Sorry, the witness is asking for the letter to be scrolled up so 

that he can look at the list of things he's being asked to address.  

 

MS McDONALD: Well, I asked you - and if you could answer my question - are 40 

you saying in the letter there is something which wasn't, to your knowledge, being 

addressed by the Weir investigators? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: And what is it? 
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MR MANNOUN: If we could just scroll up, please. Is that the top of the letter? Yes. 

Thank you. Can we just go to - so the main item that led to his dismissal is the work 

health and safety obligations, and that was not being investigated by Mr Harvey.  

 

MS McDONALD: When you say "the work health and safety issue", is that where 5 

it - sorry, if you move down a little bit on that page, in the second dot point:  

 

"Your conduct caused the mayor and deputy mayor significant distress." 

 

Is that what you're talking about? 10 

 

MR MANNOUN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: Right. 

 15 

MR MANNOUN: I'm referring to the third - the third dot point, the fourth dot 

point - and go down, please - the fifth, the fifth dot point, were the main ones. So the 

majority of this letter was not being investigated by Mr Harvey.  

 

MS McDONALD: Right. To your knowledge? 20 

 

MR MANNOUN: It was not part of his terms of reference.  

 

MS McDONALD: In your original answer you said the main issue was work health 

and safety.  25 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: When I took you to the section in the letter which referred to 

work health and safety, which was your work health and safety and the deputy 30 

mayor, you said that wasn't the case, that wasn't what you were referring to. And 

now are you saying it's the reference to 22 April, you met with the representatives of 

the USU?  

 

COMMISSIONER: I'm sorry, Ms McDonald, I think there's a reference to work 35 

health and safety in the chapeau. Just to ensure you're not at cross-purposes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. All right. So you're concentrating on the third, fourth and 

fifth dot points? 

 40 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, the ones that I referred to before.  

 

MS McDONALD: Right. If, in your evidence, they're not being considered by Weir, 

you are making a decision on matters which haven't been put to Mr Ajaka?  

 45 

MR MANNOUN: What do you mean by "haven't been put" to him?  
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MS McDONALD: Well, Mr Ajaka, if he is accorded procedural fairness, should be 

given an opportunity to answer an allegation or accusation made against him.  

 

MR MANNOUN: In the terms of the contract, the significance of the behaviour that 

was observed by all of us as councillors, that was a fact. It was deemed serious 5 

enough to invoke that part of the contract.  

 

MS McDONALD: Coming back to my question. Those allegations, according to 

your evidence in dot points 3, 4 and 5, were never put to Mr Ajaka to allow him to 

respond to them? 10 

 

MS RICHARDSON: I thought we had objections about this. The mayor had not put 

it -  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. 15 

 

MS RICHARDSON: My learned friend had said it wasn't put to him by anybody 

else. The question has to be tailored to, "You didn't put these allegations."  

 

MS McDONALD: I'll start off with that. Those dot points 3, 4, and 5, you didn't put 20 

those to Mr Ajaka to allow him to respond?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, because they weren't allegation.  

 

MS McDONALD: You did not put to him that what you alleged to be factual 25 

matters in points 3, 4 and 5, to allow Mr Ajaka to respond to them? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Sorry, I'm just trying to understand the concept of, I guess, 

"allege", as in that - if I've seen behaviour happen and I've observed it, then I just 

don't understand how it's alleged where it's a fact.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: Because what you do, and this is - what you do is you say to the 

person you are about to summarily dismiss something along the lines of, "You said 

to the union officials who attended the council meeting, 'I couldn't be more proud of 

what you're doing'", right? And that allows Mr Ajaka the ability to say, "That wasn't 35 

me, you must have misheard it," or, "I did say that but I said it in respect of X," 

which puts a different gloss on it.  

 

MS RICHARDSON: I object to this question on the premise that this is a legal 

requirement - that this was required to be done in circumstances where the council, it 40 

seems, has obtained external legal advice about the summary termination. There was 

an earlier question that I didn't rise to my feet but now that we have kept 

going - which was that obligation of procedural fairness requires X is being put at 

a - as an unstated assumption, which may well be a disputed assumption given that 

council has received legal advice about how to undertake the termination.  45 
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MS McDONALD: I withdraw the question and I will take Mr Mannoun to 

a different document.  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right.  

 5 

MS McDONALD: Can you bring up, please, INQ.085.001.0001. Can we go through 

to page 133. So I will ask this question. Sorry, I withdraw that. Question with notice 

at the council meeting:  

 

"Was legal advice sought, obtained or provided to councillors in relation to mayoral 10 

minute number 1 at 29 May 2024 council meeting?" 

 

And we have: 

 

"Oral advice was provided at the meeting. Written was not requested. Note it's not in 15 

the mayoral minutes."  

 

That answer would suggest that there wasn't advice from Sparke Helmore?  

 

MR MANNOUN: That's what it suggests, yes.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: Your evidence that advice was obtained from Sparke Helmore, 

was that at a time after the meeting of 29 May? 

 

MR MANNOUN: No.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: You say it was beforehand? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 30 

MS McDONALD: And when do you say it was? 

 

MR MANNOUN: I think we discussed the - the same question but about the 

previous month, and I accepted that it wasn't before the April -April meeting. But 

I am certain that it was from - there was advice in between, sometime from the end, 35 

from that April meeting in the lead-up to this meeting, which would - 

 

MS McDONALD: And, to your knowledge, was that advice about the termination 

of Mr Ajaka's employment?  

 40 

MR PARISH: It might depend on how this is answered as to whether it trespasses 

on anything that might be legally privileged.  

 

COMMISSIONER: Well, if it's answered, as it could be, as a yes or no, is that 

a safe -  45 

 

MR PARISH: Yes.  
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COMMISSIONER: All right. Councillor, can you answer that question "yes" or 

"no"?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: And what is the answer? 

 

MR MANNOUN: I forgot the question. Yes, legal advice was obtained. That was 

the question?  10 

 

MS McDONALD: About - 

 

MR MANNOUN: About - 

 15 

MS McDONALD: - termination of Mr Ajaka's employment? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And was that advice in writing? 20 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: The response that the counsel gave oral advice was provided at 

the meeting, you see that? 25 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Was that oral advice provided by general counsel? 

 30 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, I think it was.  

 

MS McDONALD: On 29 May you still hadn't received the Weir report, had you? 

The final Weir report, I'm sorry.  

 35 

MR MANNOUN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: The final Weir report wasn't, I think, made available, at least to 

the CEO, until towards the end of June? 

 40 

MR MANNOUN: I'm not - I don't remember the date.  

 

MS McDONALD: In the circumstances of 29 May, the circumstances included 

a resolution by council for an investigation to be conducted into the swearing 

meeting and other aspects of Mr Ajaka's conduct? 45 
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MR MANNOUN: Sorry, I don't remember the - I know we had it up on the screen 

before, but I don't remember the specific wording.  

 

MS McDONALD: You agreed that Weir were engaged to prepare or undertake an 

investigation into circumstances surrounding Mr Ajaka's conduct, including the 5 

swearing meeting? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Including the swearing meeting and including to - what 

Ms Morthen had said - or a union official had said to myself and some of the other 

councillors, yes. I don't remember how general it was.  10 

 

MS McDONALD: How what, sorry? 

 

MR MANNOUN: How general it was.  

 15 

MS McDONALD: Ratepayers' money was being used to pay Weir for their 

investigation? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 20 

MS McDONALD: Weir had provided an interim report recommending to council 

that they wait until the final Weir report was provided? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Sorry, I need to correct that answer. The rates and ratepayers are 

one source of income for council. I know it's a generalisation, but there are other 25 

sources of funds that come through council. So council funds were used for the 

report.  

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. But it is expending council money to an outside 

organisation to conduct an investigation? 30 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And you were provided with a recommendation from that 

organisation - wait until we get the final report?  35 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: At that point, Mr Ajaka is on the special leave imposed by the 

council? 40 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: It's anticipated that he will continue on the special leave until the 

investigation is finished? 45 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: Excuse me. Could we bring up another document, please. 

LCC.008.001.0021. That can be live streamed. Now, this is an email from 

Mr Harvey to Mr Ajaka about his upcoming interview. And you can see in paragraph 

2 there is a reference to:  5 

 

"As you're aware, the complaints relate to the meeting of 16 April." 

 

Right? Then: 

 10 

"The mayor's complaint also relates to what occurred after the meeting, and in this 

regard I will be asking you contextual questions which are broadly related to [and 

then if you continued down] concerns that you did not [I think it's 'actively'] take 

steps to resolve the conflict that occurred at the meeting."  

 15 

So no apology. Then:  

 

"May have exacerbated tensions with the mayor by not clarifying or communicating 

with the union or staff that the reported planned job losses were not correct. Spoke to 

others of what occurred in the meeting..." 20 

 

Where it's reported you boasted. And then final one:  

 

"Acted in a manner that the mayor felt was subordinate by not recognising the 

difference between the role of the mayor your own role as the CEO." 25 

 

Now, it would appear from that that the "you may have exacerbated tensions by not 

clarifying or officially communicating with the union or staff that the reported 

planned job losses were not correct" - that, if we can jump back to 

OLG.001.001.1061, page 3 - if we go down towards the bottom of the page, what 30 

you described as the third and fourth dot point, which is the dot point commencing, 

"On 22 April", and then the dot point, "It is apparent", they're covered by that matter 

raised by Weir of not clarifying or officially communicating with the union or staff 

that the reported planned job losses were not correct, isn't it? 

 35 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

  

MS McDONALD: Across the page, again under point 5, the first dot point:  

 

"Consequential on your failure to correct the misstatements, the [union's] accusation 40 

were echoed by Ray Hadley."  

 

Well, that really is covered by that dot point of - in the Weir record of not officially 

communicating with the union or staff that the reported planned job losses were not 

correct?  45 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Can I see that Weir email again, please?  
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MS McDONALD: Yes, sure. What we might try and do is a split screen. 

LCC.008.001.0021. What I'm saying to you is dot point number 5, the first sub-dot 

point, comes under the not clarifying or officially communicating with the union or 

staff that reported planned job losses were not correct.  5 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes. Sorry, what was the - what was the question, sorry? I was 

reading both of them.  

 

MS McDONALD: I'm asking you - you identified the fifth dot point, and I'm 10 

referring to then the first sub-dot point, which is:  

 

"Consequential on your failure to correct the misstatements..." 

 

You've got the Ray Hadley union interview. See that? 15 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: So the first sub-dot point is basically raising with him he has not 

clarified or officially communicated with the union or staff that the reported planned 20 

job losses were not correct?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Did you say the first sub-dot point?  

 

MS McDONALD: Can you see there's a dark dot point in the following days?  25 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: When you were giving your evidence, that's where I identified 

that as the fifth dot point.  30 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Right? And what I'm saying then - I'm - it's difficult when it's 

only dots, not nice Roman numerals, but can you see there is a sub-dot point which 35 

says:  

 

"Consequential on your failure to correct the misstatements, the USU's accusation 

were echoed by Ray Hadley."  

 40 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, that first sub-dot point.  

 

MS McDONALD: Yes. 

 

MR MANNOUN: Is I think - is - that's the first one.  45 

 

MS McDONALD: That's the first sub-dot point.  
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MR MANNOUN: Yes. I thought you were referring on the other side.  

 

MS McDONALD: And what I'm saying about that first dot point is that's covered by 

not clarifying or officially communicating with the union or staff that the reported 5 

planned job losses were not correct.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, the second dot point on the right-hand side - sub-dot point, 

yes.  

 10 

MS McDONALD: Yes. Now, the next two dot points, you've got a representative 

from the union advocating for you to the mayor, including making of threats. What's 

that a reference to? Is that a reference to what Sandie Morthen said to you at Lilys? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  15 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. But Mr Ajaka wasn't there at the meeting, when you ran 

into Sandie at Lilys?  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, I haven't - I haven't given any evidence yet of what Sandie 20 

Morthen had said to me at that meeting.  

 

MS McDONALD: That's okay, I haven't asked you.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  25 

 

MS McDONALD: What I'm trying to find out is whether Mr Ajaka was present at 

Lilys when you had this conversation with Sandie.  

 

MR MANNOUN: No, he wasn't.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: Then you've got:  

 

"Union members rallied out the front of a council meeting in support of you." 

 35 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, the next dot point is your assertion that when the council 

meeting was disrupted by union members, Mr Ajaka uttered the words, "I couldn't be 

more proud of what you're doing."  40 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Now, that allegation that at the council meeting he uttered those 

words, that's not covered by what Weir was looking at? 45 

 

MR MANNOUN: I've never seen this email from Mr Harvey to Mr Ajaka.  
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MS McDONALD: But you've given evidence that the mayoral minute on 29 May, 

and in particular attachment A, the letter proposed to go to Mr Ajaka, raised matters 

that, in your view, were not being considered by the Weir report.  

 5 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. And what I've pointed out to you is this is evidence in 

the letter from Mr Harvey of what Weir was looking at. Now, I know you say you've 

never seen it before, but that is evidence that Weir were looking at the consequences 10 

of Mr Ajaka not correcting the 150 job losses.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, but it's the first time I've seen this email.  

 

MS McDONALD: Well, what did you base your mayoral minute on? I'm sorry, 15 

withdraw that. You gave evidence that your mayoral minute and the contract - sorry, 

the letter then sent to Mr Ajaka summarily dismissing him was based on some 

serious allegations that the Weir report was not considering.  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  20 

 

MS McDONALD: And I've just taken you to an email from the Weir report - sorry, 

from Mr Harvey - that sets out a number of those - dot points 3, 4 and some of 5 

were being considered by the Weir report.  

 25 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: So where did you get your informational basis that the Weir 

report was not considering dot point - the matters in dot points 3, 4 and 5? 

 30 

MR MANNOUN: From the resolution of council asking for the report to be done.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. You didn't make any other inquiries along the lines of, 

well, what actually is Weir looking at? What topics are they looking at? 

 35 

MR MANNOUN: No.  

 

MS McDONALD: So you've progressed - you drafted and moved the mayoral 

minute without getting more details or finding out what Weir was actually looking 

at? 40 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, as I relied on the resolution.  

 

MS McDONALD: And your interpretation of the resolution was that Weir was only 

looking at the swearing meeting? 45 
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MR MANNOUN: No. There was the swearing meeting, there was the - the threats 

from Ms Morthen and there was the racist chants at the - in front of the council 

building.  

 

COMMISSIONER: As the investigation related to the conduct of Mr Ajaka, what 5 

did you understand it to extend to? Was it just the swearing meeting or was there 

something else about Mr Ajaka's conduct that as of 29 May, the date that the - this 

minute on the left was presented, what was your - doing the best you can, putting 

yourself back in that position - I know it's hard, but what did, at that time, you 

understand Weir was looking at in relation to Mr Ajaka's conduct as opposed to 10 

perhaps the conduct of others? 

 

MR MANNOUN: My - my recollection is that it was mainly about the - and the 

rationale for the minute was for the behaviour in the swearing meeting.  

 15 

COMMISSIONER: The rationale for the minute or the investigation?  

 

MR MANNOUN: For the investigation - well, that's the - the minute ideally 

reflected - reflected that. That was the initial part of it. And then I think the protest 

and the - the racial chants were around 2 pm - no, a little bit before that, because I 20 

think the meeting was at 2 pm. So then the - the extra part was added - about the 

racial chants was added onto it at that point in time.  

 

COMMISSIONER: All right. But as of 29 May, when the mayoral minute 

proposing to terminate Mr Ajaka's employment was presented - doing the best you 25 

can, what was your understanding, as of that time, about what Weir was 

investigating, as it related to Mr Ajaka's conduct? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Specifically relating to his conduct that Weir was investigating 

was the swearing meeting, because the other two elements were relating to others.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: And that understanding is based on the resolution from April? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: And not any other inquiry from Weir as to what they were 

actually investigating? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 40 

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute. But in those circumstances, you moved 

the mayoral minute and it was accepted by a majority of councillors? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 45 

MS McDONALD: And I think you had the casting vote? 
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MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: The ultimate - or, sorry, the final report by Liverpool City 

Council - I think it's - can I just check the date - I think it's around 28 June when it is 

finalised.  5 

 

COMMISSIONER: The Weir report, do you mean?  

 

MS McDONALD: The - I'm sorry. I'll start again. I've referred to you the interim 

Weir report.  10 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: Where it recommended wait until the final report comes out. The 

final report, I - it's dated towards the end of June. I think it's 28 June.  15 

 

MR MANNOUN: I don't remember.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Maybe if we can bring that up. Now, if we bring up 

LCC.008.001.0003. This can be live streamed. Can you see there:  20 

 

"Weir confidential amended fact-finding investigation report."  

 

And when it says "amended" - I can take you to this, but there's really just some 

small amendments which recommend mediation between you and Mr Ajaka. But if 25 

we just move down that first page, can you see it's got a date, 19 June 2024? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And if we go to the recommendations, which is on page 58 - 59? 30 

Sorry, 58. Can you see:  

 

"Outcome be noted. Mediation between the mayor and CEO be undertaken to resolve 

issues from the 16 April meeting and related issues. Consider if further investigation 

is required into who informed the media about the CEO's comments and if this 35 

constituted a breach of the code of conduct." 

 

And then:  

 

"Consider speaking to the mayor about appropriate language and issues and concerns 40 

related to age discrimination."  

 

Do you - now, as I said, this is dated around - I think it was 19 June. When did you 

first see this report? 

 45 

MR MANNOUN: I don't specifically recall.  
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MS McDONALD: All right. Was it - you do remember seeing it? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: It was provided to you at some time in 2024? 5 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: As you can see, this was dated 19 June. Is your recollection you 

saw it some time in June? 10 

 

MR MANNOUN: I would assume so.  

 

MS McDONALD: All right. Who provided it to you? 

 15 

MR MANNOUN: I think it was emailed to all councillors.  

 

MS McDONALD: So you didn't get - I'm sorry. Are you still thinking or -  

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes, I'm thinking after the answer. I'm doing that often, just to 20 

make sure. So - 

 

MS McDONALD: So is your recollection you didn't get it emailed to you by 

yourself, it was one of those emails to all of the governing body? 

 25 

MR MANNOUN: I - without checking my emails, I can't be certain.  

 

MS McDONALD: And do you recall who emailed it? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Thinking either Mr Breton or maybe Mr Portelli.  30 

 

MS McDONALD: Okay. As head of Corporate Services? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 35 

MS McDONALD: Would you just excuse me. If we can bring up 

LCC.010.001.4075. Are you okay? 4075. Yes. If you go down the bottom of the 

page - there. Email from Mr Breton, 24 June. And I think all the councillors there. 

You're the final one.  

 40 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  

 

MS McDONALD: And you'll see in the second paragraph:  

 

"You have attached before you the Weir report and also a memo."  45 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  
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MS McDONALD: So it would appear that you and also the other councillors got the 

final report on 24 June? 

 

MR MANNOUN: Yes.  5 

 

MS McDONALD: Commissioner, I'm about to move to something else. Would that 

be an appropriate time?  

 

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Councillor, that completes the day. We'll resume your 10 

evidence at 10 am tomorrow morning. So if you wouldn't mind being back here just 

before then I'd be most grateful. Grateful for your attendance and assistance during 

the day. You're free to go for the moment. 

 

MR MANNOUN: Thank you, Commissioner.  15 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW  

 

COMMISSIONER: Anything else to do today? All right. I'll adjourn till 10 am 

tomorrow. Thank you. 20 

 

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 4.00 PM 




